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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the shareholders of Banca Comerciala Romana SA

1 We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Banca Comerciala
Romana SA and its subsidiaries (the “Bank"), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes.

Management's responsibility for the flnancial statements

2 Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the European Union, and for such internal control as management determined is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's responsibility

3 Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

4 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an apinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

5 We believe that the audii evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
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6 In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Bank as of 31 December 2010, and of its financial performance and
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Guit ¢ g

Ernst and Young Assurance Services SRL
Bucharest, Romania

15 March 2011
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

Group Bank
—RON Thousand Notes 2070 210
Intarasi and similar income 4 6,912,947 8,840,364 6,648,067 8,495,260
Inleresl and similar expenses 5 (3.163,184) (5,002,060) {2,994,129) (4,876,468)
Nel Interest income 3,749,763 3,838,304 3,853,938 3,618,792
Fes and commission income 6 870,137 924,224 830,418 870,794
Fes and commission axpenses 6 {405,763} (216,248) {389,566) (212,175)
Nel foe and commission income 6 484,374 707,976 440,852 650,619
Nel trading income 7 311,051 423,798 292,566 416,760
Net gain or loss on financial assels designated al fair value
through profil or loss 573 38,687 574 28,319
Other operating income 8 76,052 228,486 23,937 348,781
Total operating Income 4,601,813 5,237,251 4,411,807 5,081,271
Credit loss axpense ] (1,997,668) (2,282,380) {1,727,017) (2,047,221)
Nei operatling Income 2,604,145 2,954 871 2,884,850 3,034,050
Personnel expanses 10 {873,693) {921,743) (770,026) (843,349)
Depreciaiion and impairment of properly and equipment 20 {150,268) (134,483) (122,750) {124,966)
Amortization of intangible assels 21 {46,465) {42.756) (44,861} {41,053}
Qther operaling expenses 11 (891,808) {819.369) (867,122) (732.007)
Total operating expenses {1,962,234) (1,018,351} (1,804,759) {1,741,375)
Profil before tax 841,911 1,036,520 880,091 1,202,675
Income (ax expense 12 (174,269) (170,459) {148,259) {181,976)
Profil for the year 487,642 866,081 731,832 1,110,693
QOther comprehensiva Income
Net gain/{loss) on axailable-for-sale financial imvesiments 17,401 207,585 17,466 204,167
Exchange diflerences on translation of foreign operations 7.521 34,521
Met loss on hedgs of net imesiment {6,208) (26,730) - -
Actuanal gains on defined benefit plans 21,753 3,295 21,753 4,123
Income lax relating Lo the components of other comprehensie
income {5.234) (30,087) {6,274} (33,327}
Other comprehensive Income for the year, net of iax 35,233 188,584 32,845 174,863
Total comprehenslve incoma for the yaar, net of tax 502,875 1,054,845 164,777 1,285,662
Profit altributable lo:
Equity holders of lhe parent 464,977 871,692 731,832 1,110,699
Nonconlmlling inleresls 2,865 (5,631 - -
Tola! comprehensive income atiributable Lo:
500,192 1,060,225 1,285,662

Equity holders of the parenl
Non-controlling inlerests

2,683 (5,580

764,777

The financial statements were approved jy the Management Board on 15 March 2011 and were signed on its behalf by.

Mr.
Ex

Mr.

Imuth Hintringer

Executive Vice President




BCRS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Consolidated and Bank
at 31 December 2010

Group Bank

RON Thousand Notes 20190 2009 2010 2009
ASSETS
Cash and balances with ceniral banks 15 9,545,385 9,896,521 9,468,523 9,819,190
Due from banks 16 1,771,738 1,882,966 1,455,735 1,453,062
Reverse repurchase agreemenls - 15,687 “ 15,687
Denvalive financial instruments 28 43,287 13,222 43,268 13,222
Financial assels held for lrading 966,944 401,351 966,944 401,351
Financial assels designaled at fair value through profil or loss 17 41,963 165,537 41,963 165,537
Loans and advances 10 customers, net 18 47,393,687 47,367,248 45,160,818 43,630,890
Financial Investments — available-for-sale 19 3,925371 3,063,235 4,963,595 3,815,868
Financial investments - held-to-maturity 19 5,442,218 2,388,918 4,998,420 2,155,958
Properly and equipmenl 20 1,683,938 1,726,600 751,276 993,729
Goodwill and other inlangibie assels 21 424,320 389,189 220,638 285,539
Current 1ax assels 192,961 155,631 189,527 149,168
Deferred lax assels 12 53,612 50,683 - -
Olher assels 22 2,087,622 1,810,519 1,684,482 1,622,385
Assets held for sale 24 290,428 65,457 - 29
TOTAL ASSETS 73,612,485 69,402,775 69,945,187 64,526,877
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Due o banks 23 21,823,532 21,123,456 18,902,313 16,418,673
Repurchase agreemeants 1,886 - 1,886 -
Derivative financial instrumenis 28 1,788,377 1,848,236 1,788,377 1,848,240
Due to customers 25 37,826,936 35,628,109 37,287,146 35,824,902
Debl issued and other borrowed (unds 26 638,177 534,712 638,177 534,712
Current {ax liabilities 21,726 1,835 - -
Deferred Lax liabllities 12 498,405 363,001 465,990 329,504
Other llabilities 29 1,688,515 1,200,631 1,547,872 1,123,427
Provisions 30 253,951 195,296 226,471 186,446
Subordinated Liabililies 27 1,967,317 1,806,112 1,967,317 1,906,112
TOTAL LIABILITIES 66,508,822 62,801,388 62,825,549 58,172,016
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF PARENT
Issued capilal 32 2,357,433 2,119,693 2,357,433 2,119,693
Retained earnings 3z 3,550,412 3,329,857 3,728,440 3,234,348
Available-for-sale reserve 32 (31,449) {46,026} {30,579) (45,250)
Forelgn currency translalion reserve 3z 141,800 134,402 - -
Other capilal reserve az 1,049,835 1,036.695 1,064,344 1,046,070

7,077,131 8,574,621 7,119,638 6,354,861
Nan-conlrolling inleresis 26,532 26,766 - -
TOTAL EQUITY 7,103,863 6,601,387 7,116,638 6,354,861
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 73,612,495 69,402,775 §9,945,187 64,526,877

The financial statements were approved by the Management Board on 15 March 2011 and were signed oniits behalf by:

e Vice Presitient

Mr.;Helmuth Hintringer
T

1’\/\/\/

The accompanying notes form an inkegral parl of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

GROUP
Attributable to equity holders of the parent
Other Non-

{ssued  Retained  capital controlting  Total
RON Thousand capital  eamings reserves  Total interests  equity
At 31 December 2009 2119693 3329857 1125071 6,574,621 26,766 6,601,397
Net gain on available-for-sale financial investments - - 17,628 17,628 (227) 17,401
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations - - .34 7.314 07 7521
Acluarial gainf{loss) on defined benefit plans - - 21,753 21,753 - 21,7153
Net loss on hedge of net investment - - {6,208} (6,208) . (6,208}
Income lax relating to the components of other comprehensive income - - {5.272) {5.212) i {5,234}
Other comprehensive Income for the year - - 35,215 35215 18 35,233
Profit for the year - 464,977 - 464,977 2,665 457,642
Total comprehensive Income for the year . 464,977 35215 500,192 2,683 502,875
Share Capital increase by distribution of Retained Eamings 237,740 (237,740) - - - -
Changes in parent's ownership inierest in a subsidiary - 2,318 - 2318 (2917} {599)
At 31 December 2010 2357433 3559412 1,160,286 7,077,131 26,532 7,103,663
At 31 December 2008 2,119,603 321,237 936539 6,327,468 27260 6,354,728
Net gain on available-for-sale financial investments - - 207 561 207,564 24 207 585
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations . - 34,488 34,488 KX 3521
Actuarial gain on defined benefit plans - - 3297 3,297 {2) 3,205
Nel loss on hedge of net investment - - (26,730)  (26,730) - {26,730}
Income tax relaling to the componenis of other comprehensive income - - (30,083)  (30,083) {4} {30,087)
Other comprehensive income for the year - - 189,503 188,533 51 188,584
Profil for the year - 871,692 - 871,692 (5631) 866,061
Total comprehensive Income for the year - 871,692 188,533 1,060,225 (5,580) 1,054,645
Contribution of non-contrefiing inferests ko share capilal of subsidiaries - - - 5,408 5408

Distribution of dividends (Note 14) - (813,072) - 813,072) {322) (813,304}
At 31 December 2009 10,608 320,851 1,1m—é'sm. 574, 6, 601,

BANK
Other

Issued Retained capital
RON Thousand capital  earnings reserves Total
At 31 December 2009 2,119,693 3,234,348 1,000,820 6,354,861
Net gains on available-for-sale financial invesiments - - 17,466 17,466
Actuarial gain / { losses) - - 21,753 21,753
Income tax relaling 1o (he componenls of other comprehensive income - - {6,275) (6,275}
Other comprahensive Income for the year - - 32,944 32,944
Profil for the year - 731,832 - 731,832
Total comprehensive income for the year - 731,832 32,944 764,776
Share Capital increase by distribution of Retained Eamings 237,740 (237,740) - -
At 31 Decembar 2010 2,357,433 3,728,440 1,033,764 7,119,637
At 31 December 2008 2,119,693 2,936,721 825,857 5,802,271
Net gains on available-for-sale financial imesiments - - 204,167 204,167
Actuarial gain /  losses) - 4123 4,123
Income: tax relaling to the components of other comprehensive income - - (33,327) {33,327)
Other comprehensive income for the year - . 174,963 174,963
Profit for lhe year - 1,110,699 - 1,110,689
Total Income and expense for the year - 1,110,699 174,963 1,285,662
Distribution of dividends (Note 14} - {813,072) - {(813,072)
At 31 December 2009 2,119,693 3,234,348 1,000,820 6,354,861

The accompanying notes form an infegral part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

Group Bank
RON Thousand Notes 2010 2008 2010 2009
Profit before lax 641911 1,036,520 880,091 1,202,675
Adjustmens for;
Change in operaling assels B (1644452) (3725429) (37391587)  (3,180,201)
Change in cperaling liabililies ¥ 4,693,623 959,245 4,363,666 34,7
Non-cash ilems included in profil before fax B 2231727 2356508 1976420 2095842
Net gain from investing aclivities B {23,395) 1,227 (126,851)  (246,143)
Paymenls made agains! provisions B {20,389) (31,765) {13,546) {31,404)
Income tax paid (67309)  (M79)  (B408)  (321.353)
Net cash flows from operating activities 5,817,626 257,957 3.579,694 4,117
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment (198,255)  (301,436) (142185  (212.094)
Proceeds from sale of properly and equipment (22,644) - 240,430 733,484
Purchase of financial imestments (T47922) (531.,608) (7044886 (6255519
Proceeds from sale of financial invesimenls 4004267 3,140943 4010327 3,130,795
Acquisition of subsidiary ne} of cash acquired {12,897} - - -
Dividends received 2950 2,833 131,706 126,572
Nef cash flows used In investing activities {4,084,441)  (3,479,260)  (3,704,408)  ({2,476,755)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from subonfinaled liabililies 119,650 576,112 3,652 576,112
Proceeds fom debt issued and olher borowed funds 2220365 2,989,368 724051 1,091,598
Repayment of debl issued and olher bomowed funds (4,530,386)  (3,556.429) (931,806)  {2.809,365)
Repayment of fnance lease liabililies - - - (503)
Conlrbition of non-contralling inlerest o share capilal increase of subsidiaries 5408 -
Dividends paid lo non-controlling inleresls (32) .
Dividends paid 1o equily holders of the parenl - (813072 (613,072)
Net cash Alows used in financing activities {2190,311)  (798,935) {176,103)  (1,955,285)
el decrease in cash and cash equivalenls (457,186)  (4,020,47) (300817)  (4.427.93)
Cash and cash equivalentsat 1 January 11,670,964 15691011 11,185,433 15,613,367
Cash and cash aquivalents at 31 December 35 1,213,678 11,670,864 10,884,616 19,185,433
Operational cash flows from interest
Inlerest paid 3263560 5100817 3080016 4974121
Interes| received 6776581  B201877 6628520 797840

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Banca Comerciala Romana S.A. (the Bank' or 'BCR') together with its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) provides refail, corporate banking and
investment banking services mainly in Romania. As a result of the privatization process organized by the govemment of Romania, Ersle Bank
der oestemeichischen Sparkassen AG ("Erste Bank") purchased 61.88% of the share capilal of the Bank pursuant to a share purchase
agreement dated 21 December 2005. In December 2006, Ersle Bank purchased further 7.27% from employees of the Bank. The ulimate
parent of the Group is Erste Group Bank.

The Group provides day-fo-day banking services and other financial services to govemmental institutions, corporate and individual clienls
operating in Romania and abroad. These services include: accounts opening, domesltic and intemational payments, foreign exchange
transactions, working capital finance, medium and long term faciliies, retail loans, finance micro and small enterprises, bank guarantees, lefters
of credit and through subsidiaries alsc leasing, insurance, brokerage, financial consuftancy services and asset management. In December
2008, the insurance business was sold.

Banca Comerciala Romana S.A. is incorporated and domiciled in Romania. lls regislered office is at 5, Elisabeta Boulevard, Bucharest,
Romania.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the
Management Board on 15 March 2011.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies apply o both the consolidated ("Group®) and separate financial sfatements of the Bank, except for accounting of
investments in subsidiaries in the Bank's financial statements.

21. Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial stalements have been prepared on a hislorical cost basis modified to include the inflation adjustments under
Inlemational Accounting Standard {IAS) 28 "Financial Reporting in Hyperinfiationary Economies” up to 31 December 2003, except for available-
for-sale investments, derivative financial instruments and financial asseis at fair value through profit or loss, that have been measured at fair
value.

The Bank and its subsidiaries which are incorporated in Romania maintain their books of account and prepare their statutory financial
statements in accordance with Romanian Accounting Regulations and in the case of the Bank and its subsidiaries "BCR Leasing IFN SA",
"BCR Partener IFN* and "BCR Banca pentru Locuinte®, also in accordance with Romanian Banking Regulations. The foreign subsidiaries
maintain their books of account and prepare their statutory financial statements in their presentation curencies and in accordance with the
requlations of the countries in which they operale. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared from statutory financial
statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries and presented in accordance with IFRS with adjustments and certain reclassifications for the
purpose of the fair presentation in accordance with (FRS. These adjustments are summarized in Nole 33.

The cansolidated financial statements are presented in Romanian Lei ("RON"), and all values are rounded to the nearest RON thousand,
except when otherwise indicated.




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

2, ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

The Bank has the following subsidiaries consolidated in the financial statements of the Group as at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009;

$hargholding
Company's name Country of 3-Dec-10 31-DecH9
incorporation  Nature of the business
Anglo-Romarian Bark Ltd United Kingdom  Banking 100%  100%
BCR Chisinau SA Moldova Banking 100%  100%
Financiara SA Romania Financial 97.46%  97.46%
BCR Securities SA Romania Brokerage {company under liquidalion) 80.23%  B89.24%
BCR Leasing IFN SA Romania Financia! leasing 99.87% 99.5%
BCR Assel Management SA Romania Assel Managemenl {company under liquidation)  82.25%  81.25%
Buchares! Financial Plazza SRL* Romania Real esfale 100,00%  97.46%
BCR Pensii, Socielale de Adminisirare a Fonduilor de Pensil Private SA Romarda Pension Fund 99.99% 99.99%
BCR Banca peniru Locuinte SA Romania Housing loans 80.00%  80.00%
BCR Parlener IFN SA Romania Consumer loans 9.99% 99.99%
BCR Finance BV The Nelherlands ~ Financial 100%  100%
Suporl Colect SRL Romania Workout 100%  100%
BCR Procesare SRL Romania Cash pmcessing and storing 100%  100%
BCR Real Eslale Managemeni SRL Romania Real eslate 100%  100%
BCR Fleat Management SRL™ Romania Operational leasing 99.87%  99.35%
Good-Bee Senice SRL Romania Moblle phone (rRnsaclions 99.99% -

* Company held indiecty by BCR [hrough Financiara as of 31.12.2009 and through BCR Real Eslale Managemen SRL as of 31.12.2010
= Company held indirectly by BCR (hrough BCR Leasing SA

(1) Impact of inflation

Romania was a hyperinflationary economy and was officially declared as ceasing to be hyperinflationary for IFRS reporting purposes as at 1
July 2004, The financial statements of the Group and the Bank have been restaled to fake into account the effects of infiation until 31 December
2003 in accordance with the provisions of and guidance in IAS 29. In summary IAS 29 requires that financial statements prepared on a
historical cost should be restated in terms of measuring unit current at the balance sheet date and that any gain or loss on the net monetary
position should be included in the profit or loss and disclosed separalely.

{2) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (JFRS)
and its interpretations issued by the Intemational Accounting Standards Board {IASB) as adopied by the EU.

The Bank presents ils statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity. An analysis regarding recovery or settiement within 12 months
after the statement of financial position date (current) and more than 12 months after the siatement of financial position daie (non-cument) is

presented in Note 39,

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offsel and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position only when there is a legally
enforceable right lo offset the recognised amounts and there is an iniention to sefile on a net basis, or lo realise the assets and setile the liability
simultanecusly. Income and expense will not be offset in the statement of comprehensive income unless required or pemitted by any
accounting standard or interprelation, as specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Bank.

(3) Basis of consclidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank as at and for the year ended 31 Decemt?e_r each year. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the Bank, using consistent accounting p_ohcm.
The Bank is accounting the investments in subsidiaries in the separate financial statements as *Financial investments — available-for-sale”.




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is ransferred to the Bank. Control is achieved where the Bank has the power
to govemn the financial and operating policies of an enlity so as to obiain benefits from its activities. The results of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidaled profit or loss from the date of acquisition or up to the dale of disposal, as
appropriate.

The Bank sponsors the formation of special purpose entities (SPEs), primarily for the purpose of facilitation of investments by the Bank’s clients,
and fo accomplish certain namrow and well defined objectives. The Bank consolidates those SPEs if the substance of its refafionship with them
indicates that it has control over them.

Non-confrolling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not owned, directly or indirectly, by the Bank and are presented
separately in the profit or loss and within equity in the consolidated balance sheet, separately from parent shareholders' equity. Acquisitions of
minority interests are accounted for using the parent entity extension method, whereby, the difference between the consideration and the fair
value of the share of the net assels acquired is recognized as goodwill. Any deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the fair values of the
identifiable net assels acquired (i.e. a discount on acquisition) is recognized directly in the profit or loss in the year of acquisition.

22, Significant accounting judgments and estimates

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has used its judgments and made estimates in determining the
amounts recognized in the financial statements. The most significant use of judgments and estimates are as follows:

1) Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabiliies recorded on the balance sheet cannot be derived from active markets, they are
delemined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The input fo these models is taken from
observable markels where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values. The judgments
include considerations of liquidity and mode! inputs.

[¥]] Impairment losses on leans and advances

The Bank reviews its individually significan loans and advances at each statement of financial position date to assess whether an impairment
loss should be recorded in the statement of comprehensive income. In particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the
amount and timing of future cash fiows when determining the impairment loss. In estimating these cash fiows, the Bank makes judgments
about the bomower's financial situation and the net realisable value of collateral. These estimaes are based on assumptions about a number of
factors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance.

Loans and advances that have been assessed individually and found not o be impaired and all individually insignificant loans and advances are
then assessed collectively, in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics, lo determine whether provision should be made due to incurred
loss events for which there is objective evidence but whose effects are not yef evident. The collective assessment takes account of data from
the loan portfolio {such as credit quality, levels of amears, credit utilisation, loan to collateral ralios etc.), concentrations of risks and economic
data (including levels of unemployment, real estate prices indices, country risk and the performance of different individual groups).

The impairment loss on loans and advances is disclosed in more detail in Note 9 and Note 18.

{3 Impairment of avaitable-for-sale equity investments

The Group treas available-for-sale equity investments as impaired when there has been a signfficant or prolonged decline in.the .fair value
below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exiss. The determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgment.
The Group treats ‘significant’ generally as 20% and ‘prolanged’ grealer than 1 year. In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, such as the

share price volatility.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
{4) Deferred tax assets

Deferred {ax 355ng are rgcqgnized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that laxable profil will be available against which the
losses can be utilized. Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred lax assets that can be recognized,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

(5) Benefits granted on the date of retirement

The cc_msl of the defined beneft consisting of a one-off payment of up to six monthly gross salaries on the date of refirement is determined using
acfuarial vafuation. The actuarial valuation involves making assumplions about discount rates, expected rales of retumn on assets, future salary

increases and mortality rates. Due to the long term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. See Note 31 for
the assumptions used.

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the separate financial statements of the Bank and of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are set out below.

) Foreign currency translation

The financial statements are presented in RON, which is the Bank’s functional and presentational currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and lems included in the financial slalements of each entity are measured using thal functional currency.

{0 Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign cumencies are initially recorded in the functional cumency at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominaled in foreign curencies are retranslated into the functional curency at the rate of exchange nuling at
the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to ‘Net trading income' in the profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in lerms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rales as at the daies
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign cumency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was delermined..

(i) Group companies

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of subsidiaries are translated into the Bank's presentation currency {RON} at the rale of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date, and their profils or losses are translated at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising on translation are faken directly fo a separate component of equify. On disposal of a foreign entty, the deferred cumulative
amount recognized in equily relating to that particular foreign operation is recognized in the stalement of comprehensive income in ‘Other

operating expenses'’ or ‘Other operating income’, respectively,

V4] Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement

(i} Date of recognition

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in

the marketplace are recognized on the Irade dale, i.e. the date thal the Group or the Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset. Derivatives
are recognized on trade date basis.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
{if) Initial recognition of financial instruments

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired and
their characteristics. All financial instruments are measured inftially at their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets and financial liabilties
not at fair value through profit or loss, any directly atiributable incremental costs of acquisition or issue.

{ifi) Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss

Derivalives include currency swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts and inferest rale swaps. Derivatives are recorded at fair value and
camied as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabllities when their fair value is negalive. Changes in the fair value of derivatives held
for trading are included in "Net trading income'.

Interest related fo interest rate swaps is recognized as interest income and interest expense over the period of interest rale swap instruments in
accordance with contractual kerms.

{iv) Financial assets heid for trading

Financial assets or financial liabilifies held for trading, comprising financial instruments held for trading other than derivatives, are recorded in the
slatement of financial position al fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized in ‘Net rading income’. Interest and dividend income or
expense are recorded in ‘Net trading income' according lo the terms of the contract, or when the right to the payment has been established.

Included in this classification are debt securities, equities and shori positions in debt securities and securities which have been acquired
principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.

{v) Financial assets or financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities classified in this category are designated by management on initial recognition when the following criteria
are met;

«  the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or
liabilities or recognizing gains or losses on them on a different basis; or

. the assets and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both which are managed and their performance
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment stralegy; or

»  the financial instrument contains an embedded derivative, unless the embedded derivative does not significanty modify the cash
flows or it is clear, with litfle or no analysis, that it would not be separately recorded.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value.
Changes in fair value are recorded in ‘Net gain or loss on financial assets and liahilites designated at fair value through profit or loss”. Interest
eamed or incurred is accrued in inlerest income or expense, respectively, according to the terms of the contract, while dividend income is
recorded in 'Interest and similar income’ when the right o the payment has been established.

{vi) Held-to-maturity financial investments

Held-to-maturity financial investments are those which carry fixed or determinable payments and have fixed maturities and which the Group has
the intention and abllity to hold fo maturity. After initial measurement, held-to-maturity financial investments are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less allowance for impairment. Amortized cosl is caloulated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The amortization is included in ‘Interest and
similar income’ in the statement of comprehensive income. The losses arising from impairment of such investments are recognized in the
statement of comprehensive income line 'Impaiment losses on financial investments'.

IF the Group were lo sell or reciassify more than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments before maturity {other than in certain
specific circumslances), the entire category would be tainted and would have to be reclassified as available-for-sale. Furthermore, the Group
wouid be prohibited from classifying any financial asset as held to maturity during the following two years.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
{vil) Due from banks and loans and advances fo customers

‘Due from banks' and 'Loans and advances to customers' are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that are
not quoted in an active market. They are not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not classified as ‘Financial
assets held for trading’, designated as ‘Financial investments - available-for-sale’ or 'Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or
loss’. After initial measurement, amounis due from banks and loans and advances o customers are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest rate method, less allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees and costs that should be an integral part of the effective interest rate. The amortization is included in ‘Interest
and similar income’ in the statement of comprehensive income. The losses arising from impairment are recognized in the stalement of
comprehensive income in ‘Credit loss expense’.

(viii) Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are those which are designaied as such or do not qualify to be classified as financial investments at fair
value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity o loans and advances. They include equity instrumenis, investmenls in mutual funds and money
market and other debt instruments.

After initial measurement, available-for-sale financial investments are subsequently measured at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses are
recognized directly in equily in the ‘Available-for-sale reserve’. When the security is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognized in equity is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in ‘Other aperating income’ or ‘Other operaling expenses’. Where
the Group holds more than one investment in the same security they are deemed to be disposed of on a first-in first-out basis. Interest eamed
whilst holding available-for-sale financial investments is reported as inlerest income using the effective interest rate. Dividends eamed whilst
holding available-for-sale financial investments are recognized in the profit or loss as ‘Interest and similar income' when the right of the payment
has been eslablished. The losses arising from impairment of such investments are recognized In the profit or loss in ‘Impairment losses on
financial investments' and removed from the available-for-sale reserve.

{ix) Debt issued and other borrowed funds

Issued financial instruments o their components, which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss, are classified as liabilities under
‘Debt issued and other bormowed funds', where the substance of the contractual arrangement resulis in the Group having an obligation either to
deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or lo satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. After initial measurement, debt issued and other borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortized cosi using the effective interest rate method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on the issue and costs that should be an inlegral part of the effective interest rate.

(x) Reclassification of financial assets

For a financial asset reclassified out of the 'Available-for-sale’ category, any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in
equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaning life of the investment using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between the
new amortised cost and the expected cash flows is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate method. If
the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired then the amount recorded in equity is recycled to the profit or loss.

Reclassification is at the election of management, and is delermined on an instrument by instrument basis. The Group does not reclassify any
financial instrument into the fair value through profit or loss category after inilial recognition.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

(3) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

(i} Financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assels) is derecognized where:

+  [he rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or the Group has transfered its righis to receive cash flows from the asset or
has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash fows in full without material delay fo a third party under a ‘pass-through’ amangement,
and

+  either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transfered its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arangement, and has neither
fransfemed nor refained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transfermed conirol of the asset, the asset is recognized lo the
extent of the Group's conlinuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset
is measured at the lower of the original caying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be
required fo repay.

(if) Financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Where an exisfing financial
liabiltty is replaced by ancther fom the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is trealed as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in
the respective camrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

{4) Repurchase and raverse repurchase agreements

Securities sold under agreements lo repurchase at a specified future date ('repos’) are not derecognized from the statement of financial
position. The comesponding cash received, including accrued interest, is recognized on the statement of financial position as a ‘Repurchase
agreement, reflecting its economic substance as a loan to the Group or the Bank. The difference between the sale and repurchase prices is
treated as interest expense and is accrued over the fife of the agreement using the effecive interest rate method. Where the transferee has the
right lo sell or pledge the asset, the asset is recorded on the statement of financial position as ‘Financial assets held for frading pledged as
collaieral',

Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell at a specified future date (reverse repos’) are not recognized on the siatement of
financial position. The comesponding cash paid, including accrued interest, is recognized on the statement of financial position as a ‘Reverse
repurchase agreements'. The difference between the purchase and resale prices is treated as interest income and is accrued over the life of the
agreement using the effective interest rate method.

{5 Securities lending and barrowing

Securities lending and borrowing transactions are usually collateralized by securities or cash. The transfer of the securities to counterpa}rﬁes is
only reflected on the statement of financial position if the risks and rewards of ownership are also transferred. Cash advanced or received as

collateral is recorded as an asset or liability.

Securities borrowed are not recognized on the statement of financial position, unless they are sold to third parfies, in which case the obligation to
retum the securities is recorded as a frading liability and measured at fair value with any gains or losses included in ‘Net trading income’,

(6) Determination of fair value

The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the statement of financial position date !s based on thgir quoted market price
or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.

1"
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2, ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques. Valuation
techniques include pricing models or discounted cash flow techniques. Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash
flows are based on management's best estimaies and the discount rate is markei related rate al the statement of financial position date for an
instrument with similar terms and conditions. Where pricing models are used, inputs are based on market related measures at the statement of
financial position date. Where a Fair value cannot reliably be estimated, unquoted equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in
an active market are measured at cost and periodically tesled for impaiment.

N Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that has occumed afler the inifial recognition of the asset (an incurred loss event') and thal ioss
event {or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptey or other financial reorganization
and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimaled future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that comelate with defaults.

(i) Due from banks and foans and advances fo customers

For amounts due from banks and loans and advances to customers camied at amortized cost, the Bank first assesses individually whether
objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are
not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exsts for an individually assessed financial asset,
whether significant of not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characleristics and collectively assesses them
for impairment. Assels that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or conlinues fo be, recognized are not
included in a collective assessment of impaiment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset's camying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows {excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been
incurred). The camying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance accounl and the amount of the loss is recognized in the
profit or loss. Inierest income continues fo be accrued on the reduced carrying amount based on the original effective interest rate of the assel.
Loans together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been
realized or has been transferred to the Group. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impaiment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impaiment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited fo the 'Credit loss expense'.

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable
interest rale, the discount rale for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective inferest rate. The calculation of the present value of the
estimated future cash flows of a collaleralized financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for oblaining and
selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

For the purpose of a colleciive evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of the Group's intemal credit grading system
that considers credit risk characleristics such as asset type, induslry, geographical location, collaieral type, past-due status and other relevant
faclors.

Future cash flows on a group of financial asseis that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of hi_slorical loss
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current
ohservable data to reflect the effects of cument conditions thal did not affect the years on which the historical loss experience is based and fo
remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do nof exist curently. Estimates of changes in future cash flows reflect, anq are
directionally consistent with, changes in related observable data from year lo year (such as changes in unem_ployme_nt rales, property prices,
commodity prices, payment status, or other factors that are indicative of incurred losses in the group and their magnﬂugie). The methodology
and assumplions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss

experience.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(i) Held-to-maturity financial investments

For held-to-malurity investments the Group assesses individually whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If there is objective
evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the assets’ camying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The camying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognized in
the profit or loss.

I, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occuring after the impairment was
recognized, any amounts formery charged are credited to the lmpaimment losses on financial investments'.

{ii}) Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at each slatement of financial position date whether there is objective evidence
that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the investment below its cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impaimment loss on that investment previously recognized in the profit or loss - is removed
from equity and recognized in the profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the profit or loss; increases in
their fair value after impairment are recognized directly in equity.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, impaiment is assessed based on the same criteria as financial assels carried at
amortized cost. Interest continues to be accrued at the original effective interest rale on the reduced camying amount of the asset and is
recorded as part of 'Interest and similar income'. If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in the profit or loss, the impaimment loss is reversed through
the profit or loss.

(iv) Renegotiated loans

Where possible, the Group seeks to restructure loans rather than to iake possession of collateral. This may involve extending the payment
amangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms have been renegotialed, the loan is no longer considered pasl due.
Management continuously reviews renegoliated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur. The loans
conlinue to be subject to an individual or collective impaiment assessment, calculated using the loan’s original effective interest rate.

(8) Hedge accounting

The Group makes use of derivative instruments to manage exposures to inlerest rate. In order lo manage particular risks, the Group applies
hedge accounfing for transactions which meet the spegified criteria.

At inception of the hedge relationship, the Group formally documents the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging ir}strument.
including the nature of the risk, the objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge and method that will be used to assess the effectiveness of

the hedging relationship.

Also at the inception of the hedge relationship, a formal assessment is undertaken o ensure the hedging instrument is _expected to be hi_ghly
effective in offsetiing the designated risk in the hedged ilem. Hedges are formally assessed each quarter. A hedge is regarded as highly
effective if the changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk during the period for which the hedge is designated are
expected to offset in a range of 80% to 125%. For situations where that hedged ftem is a forecast transaction, the Group assesses whether the
ransaction is highly probable and presents an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect the profit or loss.

(i) Fair value hedges

The purpose of the hedge is fo hedge the risk of the changes in fair value of underlying {which are on statement of financial position items)
designated as hedged ilems, by interest rate swaps designated as hedging instruments.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Therefore hedging is covering interest rate risk - changes in the level of benchmark interest rates directly influence the market value {fair value)
of hedged item. Entering inlo hedging relationship should eliminate this volatility.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or where the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the
hedge relationship is terminated. For hedged items recorded at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, the difference between
the carying value of the hedge ilem on termination and the face value is amortised over the remaining term of the original hedge. If the hedged
item is derecognized, the unamortized fair value adjustment is recognized immediately in the profit or loss.

{ii} Hedges of a net investment

Gain or losses on the hedging instrument relating lo the effective porfion of the hedge are recognized as other comprehensive income while any
gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion are recognized in the profit or loss. On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of
any such gains or losses recorded in equity is transferred to the profit or loss.

The Group uses deposits as a hedge of ifs exposure to foreign exchange risk on its investments in foreign subsidiaries.
(9) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position if, and only f, there is a
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an infention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and
seftle the fiability simuianeously. This is not generally the case with master netfing agreements, and the relaled assets and liabilfies are
presenled gross in the statement of financial position.

{10) Leasing

The delermination of whether an amangement is, or coniains a lease is based on the substance of the amangement and requires an
assessment of whether the fulfilment of the amangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the amangement conveys a
right to use the asset.

{)) Group as a lessee

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental lo ownership of the leased item, are capitalized at
the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments and included
in 'Property and equipment’ with the corresponding liabllity to the lessor included in ‘Other liabilities.’ Lease payments are apportioned between
the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as o achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Finance charges are charged directly against income in ‘Inlerest and similar expense’.

Capitalized leased assets are deprecialed over the shorter of the estimaled useful life of the asset and the lease term, if there is no reasonable
certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

QOperating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the lease term.

(i} Group as a lessor

Finance leases, where the Group transfers substantially all the risk and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item o the lessee, are
included in the statement of financial position in Loans and advances to customers’. A receivable is recognized over the leasing period of an
amount equaling the present value of the lease payments using the implicit rate of interest and including any g}laranleed residual value, All
income resulting from the receivable is included in ‘Interest and similar income' in the statement of comprehensive income.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(1} Recognition of income and expenses

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefis will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably
measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be mef before revenue is recognized:

{0 Interest and similar income and expense

For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost and interest bearing financial instruments classified as available-for-sale financial
investments, inlerest income or expense is recorded at the effective inlerest rate, which is the rate that discounts estimaled fulure cash
payments or receipts through the expecled life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the nef camying amount of
the financial asset or financial liability. The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example,
prepayment options) and includes any fees or incremental cosls that are direcily atfributable to the instrument and are an integral part of the
effective interest rate, bul not future credit losses. The camying amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if the Group revises
its estimates of payments or receipts. The adjusted camying amount is calculated based on the original effective interest rate and the change in
camying amount is recorded as interest income or expense.

Once the recorded value of a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been reduced due io an impairment loss, interestincome
continues fo be recognized using the original effective interest rale applied to the new carrying amount,

Interest related fo interest rale swaps is recognized as interest income and interest expense over the period of interest rate swap instruments in
accordance with contractual terms.

(i} Fee and commission income

The Group eams fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its cusiomers. Fee income can be divided into the
foflowing two categories:

Fee income earned from services that are provided over a cerfain period of time

Fees eamed for the provision of services over a period of ime are accrued over that period. These fees include commission and asset
management income, custody and other management and advisory fees. Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and
olher credit related fees are deferred (together with any incremental costs) and recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the
loan.

Fee income from providing transaction services

Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negofiation of a transaction for a third party — such as the amangement of the acquisition of
shares or other securiies or the purchase or sale of businesses - are recognized on completion of the underlying transaction. Fees or

components of fees that are linked to a certain performance are recognized after fulfiling the comesponding criteria. These fees include
underwriting fees, corporate finance fees and brokerage fees.

(i) Dividend income
Revenue is recognized when the Group's right to receive the payment is established.

(iv) Net trading income

Results arising from trading activities include all gains and losses from changes in fair value and related interesl income or expense and
dividends for financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading.

(12) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalenis as referred to in the cash flow statement comprises cash on hand, current accounts with central banks and amounts
due from banks on demand or with an original maturity of three months or less.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(13 Property and equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost (restated for hyperinfiation for assets acquired prior to 31 December 2003 - Note 2.1) excluding the
costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated depreciation and accumulaled impaimment in value. Changes in the expected useful life are

accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting eslimates.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-ine method to write down the cost of property and equipment lo their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

»  Buidings 30 to 50 years (mainly 50 years)
»  Office equipment 3io 10 years
»  Other fumiture and equipment 3o 15 years

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the camying amount
of the asset) is recognized in ‘Other operating income’ or ‘Other operating expenses’ in the statement of comprehensive income in the year the
asset is derecognized.

{14} Business combinations and Goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method.

Goodwil is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s share in the net fair value of the
acquiree’s ideniifiable assets, fiabiities and contingent liabilifies.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impaimment losses. For the purpose of impaiment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition daie, allocated lo each of the Group’s cash generating units that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, imespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned lo those unils.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwil associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or foss on disposal of the cperation.
Goodwill disposed of in this circumslance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generafing unit retained.

When the Group acquires a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract by the acquiree are not reassessed on
acquisition unless the business combination results in a change in the lers of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required under the conlract.

(15) Intangible assets

Intangible assets include the value of compuler software and licenses. Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulaled impaimment losses.

The useful Iives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful
economic life. The amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each
financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattem of consumption of fulure economic benefits embodied in the
asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. The
amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in the profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the function
of the intangible asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Amortization is calculated using the straight-ine method o write down the cost of intangible assets io their residual values over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

+  Computer software and licenses 3-5 years

(16) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the camying value may be
impaired, whether there is an indicafion that a non-financial asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount. Where the camying amount of an asset (or
cash-generaling unit) exceeds ils recoverable amount, the asset {or cash-generaling unit) is considered impaired and is written down to its
recoverable amount.

Goodwill

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators that goodwill is impaired at each reporting date. Goodwil is tested for impaiment,
annually and when circumstances indicate that the camying value may be impaired. Impaiment is determined for goodwill by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating units, to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unils is
less than their camying amount an impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.
The Group performs ils annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.

{17) Financial guarantees

In the ordinary course of business, the Group gives financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credii, guarantees and acceplances. Financial
guarantees are initially recognized in the financial staiements at fair value, in 'Other liabilities’, being the premium received. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Bank's liability under each guaranlee is measured at the higher of the amoriized premium and the best estimate of expenditure
required to setfle any financial abligation arising as a result of the guaranlee.

Any increase in the liability relating fo financial guarantees is taken fo the statement of comprehensive income in ‘Credit loss expense’. The
premium received is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in ‘Net fees and commission income' on a siraight line basis over
the life of the guaraniee.

(18) Employee benefits
{i} Short term service benefits

Short-lerm employee benefits include wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions. Short-term employee benefts are recognized
as expense when services are rendered.

(ii) Defined contribution plans

The Bank and the subsidiaries in Romania, in the normal course of business make payments to the Romanian Stale funds on behalf of its
Romanian employees for pension, heatth care and unemployment benefit. All employees of the Bank and of the subsidiaries in Romania are
members and are also legally obliged to make defined contributions (included in the social security conlributions}) to the Romanian State
pension plan (a State defined contribution plan). Al relevant coniributions to the Romanian State pension plan are recognized as an expense in
the profit or loss as incurred. The Bank and the subsidiaries in Romania do not have any further obligations.

The Bank and the subsidiaries in Romania do not operale any independent pension scheme and, consequently, have no obligation in respect
of pensions and they do not operale any other post reirement benefit plan. They have no obligation to provide further benefits to current or

former employees.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
{iii) Defined benefit plans

Certain foreign incorporated subsidiaries operate defined benefits plans for the non-Romanian employees. The defined benefit liabiliies have
been calculated separalely for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have eamed in return for their service in the
curent and prior periods. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. The defined benefit
obligation has been recognized in the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

{iv} Long-ferm service beneffits

The Bank's net obligation in respect of long-term service benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees have eamed in retum for their
service in the current and prior periods. On the basis of the Collective Labor Agreement, the Bank and cne of its Romanian subsidiaries have a
contractual obligation to make a one-cff payment of up to six {the Bank), respecively three (the subsidiary) gross monthly salaries fo refiring
employees on the date of retiring. The defined benefit obligations are calculated by a qualified actuary taking inlo account the estimated salary
at the dale of retirement and the number of years served by each individual. In accordance with the 2004 Amendment to IAS 19 ("Employee
Benefits - Actuarial gains and Losses, Group Plans and Disclosures®), the Bank and its respeciive subsidiary have opted for acfuarial gains and
losses to be recognized in full as they arise in equity.

{19) Provisions

Provisions are recognized when ihe Group has a present obligation {legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and il is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimale can be made of the amount of
the obligation.

{20) Taxes
(i) Current fax

Curent tax assets and liabilities for the curent and prior years are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used lo compute the amouni are those that are enacted or substanfively enacted by the
statement of financial positicn dale.

(i) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences at the statement of financial position date between the tax bases of assets and liabiliies and
their camying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred lax liabilities are recognized for all iaxable temporary diflerences, except:
+  where the defemed tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an assei or liability in a ransaction that is not a
business combination and, at the ime of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor laxable profit or loss; and
» in respect of taxable temporary diflerences associaled with investmenls in subsidiaries and associates, where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlied and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assels are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, camy forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused
tax credits and unused fax losses can be utilized excepl:
«  where the deferred tax assef relating fo the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liabllity in
a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and
« in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets recognized only fo the extent thal it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
axable profit will be available against which the lemporary differences can be utiized.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

The camying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each statement of financial posftion date and reduced fo the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profil will be available (o allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utifized. Unrecognized deferred tax
assets are reassessed at each statement of financlal position date and are recognized fo the exient that it has become probable that future
taxable profii will allow the deferred 1ax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and fiabilities are measured at the tax rales that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is
seffled, based on {ax rates {and tax laws} that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the stalement of financial position date.

Cumrent tax and deferred tax relating lo items recognized directly in equity are also recognized in equity and not in the profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax fiabilifies are offset if a legally enforceable righl exists to set off cument tax asselts against current tax
liabilities and the defemed taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

(1) Fiduciary assets

Assets held in a fiduciary capacity are not reported in the financial slalements, as they are not the assets of the Group.

(22) Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized as a liability and deducted from equity when they are approved by the Group's shareholders.
Interim dividends are deducted from equity when they are declared and no longer at the discrefion of the Group.

Dividends for the year that are approved after the statement of financial position date are disclosed as an event after the stalement of financial
position date.

(23) Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable companent of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services {business segment), or in
providing products or services within a particular economic environment {geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are

different from those of other segments. Segment income, segment expenses and segment performance include ransfers between business
segments and befween geographical segments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
24. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations as of 1 January 2010:

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assels lo Owners

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement {Amended} - eligible hedged items

IFRS 2 Group Cash-seffled Share-based Payment Transactions {Amended)

IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Revised) and IAS 27 Consclidated and Separale Financial Statements (Amended)

Improvements to IFRSs {May 2008) All amendments issued are effective as at 31 December 2009, apart from IFRS 5 Non-cument
Assefs Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, which clarifies when a subsidiary is classified as held for sale, all its assels and

fiabiliies are classified as held for sale, even when the enlity remains a non<controlling interest after the sale transaction. The
amendment is applied prospectively.
«  Improvements to IFRSs (April 2009)

The adopfion of the standards or interpretalions is described below:

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

The inlerpretation provides guidance on how to account for non-cash distributions to owners. The interpretation clarifies when fo recognize a
liabifty, how to measure it and the associated assets, and when to derecognize the asset and liability. The interpretation has no effect on either,
the financial position nor performance of the Group.

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (Amended} - eligible hedged items
The amendment clarifies that an enlity is permitled fo designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow variability of a financial
instrument as hedged item. This also covers the designation of inflation as a hedged risk or portion in particular situations. The Group has
concluded that the amendment will have no impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

IFRS 2 Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions (Amended)

This amendment clarifies the accounting for group cash-settied share-based payment transactions and how such transactions should be
amanged in the individual financial statements of the subsidiary. The Group adopted this amendment as of 1 January 2010. It did not have an
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Revised) and IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Amended)

The revised IFRS 3 introduces a number of changes in the accounting for business combinations which will impact the amount of goodwil
recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported resutts. Such changes include the expensing of
acquisition-related costs and recognising subsequent changes in fair value of contingent consideration in the profit or loss {rather than by
adjusting goodwill). The amended IAS 27 requires that a change in ownership interest of a subsidiary is accounted for as an equily fransaction.
Therefore such a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor will it give raise lo a gain or loss. Furthermore the amended standard changes the
accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. The changes by IFRS 3 (Revised) and 1AS 27
(Amended) affect acquisitions or loss of control of subsidiaries and transactions with non-controlling interests after 1 January 2010. The change
in accounting policy was applied prospectively.

Improvements to IFRSs (April 2009) .
Amendments resufting from improvements to IFRSs (April 2009} to the following standards which did not have an effect on the accounting
policies, financial position or performance of the Group:

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment N
Clarifies that the contribution of a business on formation of a joini venture and combinations under common confrol are nol within the scope of
IFRS 2 even though they are out of scope of IFRS 3 {revised). If an enity applies IFRS 3 {revised) for an earlier period, the amendment shall

also be applied for that earlier period.

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

Clarifies that the disclosures required in respect of non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale or discontinued operations
are only those set out in IFRS 5. The disclosure requirements of other IFRSs only apply if speciically required for such non-current assels or
discontinued operations.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

IFRS 8 Operating Segment Information
Clarifigs that segment assets and liabiliies need only be reported when those assets and liabilities are included in measures that are used by
the chief operating decision maker.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
The terms of a liability thaf could result, at any tme, in its seftlement by the issuance of equity instruments at the option of the counterparty do
not affect its classification.

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows

Explicitly slates that only expenditure that results in recognising an asset can be classified as a cash flow from investing activifies. This
amendment will impact the presentation in the slaiement of cash flows of the contingent consideration on the business combinalion completed
in 2009 upon cash seiflement.

IAS 17 Leases
The amendment removes the specific guidance on classifying land as a lease so that onty the general guidance remains.

IAS 18 Revenue

The Board has added guidance (which accompanies the standard) to determine whether an enlify is acting as a principal or as an agent. The
features to consider are whether the enfity:

- has primary responsibility for providing the goods or service

- has invenlory risk

- has discretion in establishing prices

- bears the credit risk

1AS 36 Impairment of Assets
The amendment clarified that the largest unit permitted for allocating goodwill, acquired in a business combination, is the operating segment as
defined in IFRS 8 before aggregation for reporting purposes.

1AS 38 Intangible Assets

Clarifies that if an intangible asset acquired in business combination is identifiable cnly with another intangible asset, the acquirer may recognise
the group of intangible assets as a single asset provided the individual assets have similar useful lives. Also, clarifies that the valuation
techniques presenled for determining the fair value of intangible assets acquired in a business combination that are not traded in active markels
are only examples and are not resirictive on the methods that can be used. If an enfity applies IFRS 3 (revised) for an earlier period, the
amendment shall also be applied for that earlier period.

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

The amendment clarifies thal:

- a prepayment oplion is considered closely related to the host contract when the exercise price of a prepayment option reimburses the lender
up to the approximate present vafue of lost interest for the remaining term of the host coniract.

- the scope exemption for contracts between an acquirer and a vendor in a business combination fo buy or sell an acquiree at a fufure dale,
applies only to binding forward contracts, and not derivative contracts where further actions by either party are stil to be taken (Applicable lo all
unexpired contracts for annual periods beginning on or afler 1 January 2010)

- gains and losses on cash flow hedges of a forecast transaction that subsequently resuits in the recognition of a financial instrument or on cash
flow hedges of recognised financial instruments should be reclassified in the period that the hedged forecast cash flows affect profit or loss
(Applicable to all unexpired contracts for annual periods beginning on or afier 1 January 2010)

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

The Board amended the scope paragraph of IFRIC 9 to clarify that it does not apply to possible reassessment, at the date of acquisition, to
embedded derivatives in contracis acquired in a combination between entifies or business under common control or the formation of a joint
venture. If an entity applies IFRS 3 {revised) for an earlier period, the amendment shall also be applied for that earier period.

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

The amendment states that, in a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, qualifying hedging instruments may be held by any enlify or
entities within the group, including the foreign operation itseff, as long as the designation, documentation and effectiveness requirements of
IAS 30 that relate to a net investment hedge are satisfied.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
25. Standards issued but not yet effective

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

The interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. This interpretation addresses the accounting freatment when
there is a renegotiafion between the entity and the creditor regarding the terms of a financial liability and the credilor agrees to accepi the entity’s
equity instruments to seftle the financial liability fully or partially. IFRIC 19 clarifies such equity insfruments are “consideration paid” in
accordance with paragraph 41 of IAS 39. As a result, the financial liability is derecognised and the equity instruments issued are freated as
consideration paid fo extinguish that financial liability. The Group does nol expect that the amendment will have impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group, as the Group has not entered into any such fransactions.

IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement (Amended)

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. The purpose of this amendment was to permit entifies to
recognise as an asset some voluntary prepayments for minimum funding contributions. This eadier application is permitted and must be applied
retrospectively. The Group does nof expect that the amendment will have impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Phase 1 financial assets, classification and measurement

The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or afler 1 January 2013. Phase 1 of this new IFRS introduces new requirements
for classifying and measuring financial assels. Early adoption is permitted. This standard has net yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group is in
the process of assessing the impact of the new standard on the financial posttion or performance of the Group.

IAS 32 Classification an Rights Issues (Amended)

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010. This amendment relales lo the rights issues offered for a
fixed amount of foreign currency which were trealed as derivalive liabilifies by the existing standard. The amendment states that if cerlain
criteria are met, these should be classified as equity regardless of the currency in which the exercise price is denominaied. The amendment is
(o be applied retrospectively The Group does not expect that this amendment will have an impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

1AS 24 Related Party Disclosures (Revised)

The revision is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011.This revision relales lo the judgment which is required so as lo
assess whether a govemment and entities known to the reporting entity to be under the control of that govemment are considered a single
customer. In assessing this, the reporting entity shall consider the extent of economiic integration between those entities. Early application is
permitted and adoption shall be applied retrospeciively. The Group does not expect that this amendment will have an impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

In May 2010 the 1ASB issued its third omnibus of amendments (o its standards, primarity with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying
wording. The effective dales of the improvements are various and the earliest is for the financial year beginning 1 July 2010. Early application is
pemitied in all cases and this annual improvements project has not yet been endorsed by the EU.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

This improvement clarifies that the amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentafion and
IAS 39 Financial Insfruments: Recognition and Measurement, that efiminate the exemption for contingent onsideration, do not apply to
contingent consideration that arose from business combinations whose acquisition dates precede the application of IFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).
Moreover, this improvement limits the scope of the measurement choices (fair value or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionale
share of the acquiree's idenifiable net assets) only to the components of non-conirolling interest that are present ownership inlerests that entitle
their holders o a propartionate share of the entity's net assets. Finally, it requires an entity (in a business combination) to account for the
replacement of the acquiree’s share-based payment transactions {whether obliged or voluntariy), i.e., spiit between consideration and post
combination expenses.

IFRS 7 Financlal Instruments: Disclosures, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 _ -
This improvement gives clarifications of disclosures required by IFRS 7 and emphasises the interaction between quantiative and qualitative
disclosures and the nature and exient of risks associated with financial instruments.

(AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 R
This amendment clarifies that an enfity will present an analysis of other comprehensive income for each component of equity, either in the
staiement of changes in equity or in the noles to the financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

[AS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

This improvement clarifies that the consequential amendments from IAS 27 made to IAS 21 The Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates,
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and IAS 31 Interests in Joint Veniures apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2009 or eartier when IAS 27 is applied earier.

|AS 34 Interim Financial Reporting, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
This improvement provides guidance to ilustraie how to apply disclosure principles in IAS 34 and add disclosure requirements.

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

This improvement clarifies that when the fair value of award credits is measured based on the value of the awards for which they could be
redeemed, the amount of discounis or incentives otherwise granted to customers not participating in the award credit scheme, is to be taken
into account.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures as part of its comprehensive review of off balance sheet activities (Amended)

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011, The purpose of this amendment is to allow users of financial
statements o improve their understanding of transfer fransactions of financial assets (e.g. securitisations), including understanding the possible
effects of any risks that may remain with the entity which transferred the assets. The amendment also requires additional disclosures if a
disproportionate amount of fransfer transactions are underaken around the end of a reporting period. The amendments broadly align the
relevant disclosure requirements of IFRSs and US GAAP,

IAS 12 Deferred tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets (Amended)

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012. This amendment concems the delerminafion of deferred
tax on investment property measured ai fair value and also incorporates SIC-21 Income Taxes — Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable
Assels into [AS 12 for non-depreciable assels measured using the revaluation model in IAS 16. The aim of this amendment is to include a) a
rebuttable presumption thaf deferred tax on investment property measured using the fair value model in 1AS 40 should be determined on the
basis that its camying amount wil be recovered through sale and b) a requirement that deferred tax on non-depreciable assets, measured using
the revaluation model in IAS 16, should always be measured on a sale basis. This amendment has not yet been endorsed by the EU. The
Group does not expect that this amendment will have an impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.
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3. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The segment reporfing format is determined to be business segments as the Group's risks and rates of retum are affected predominantly by
differences in the products and services produced. The operating businesses are organized and managed separately according lo the nature of
the products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different
markets.

For management purposes, the Bank is organized into the following business segmenls;

Retail banking - The Group provides individuals and micro clients with a range of financial products and services, including lending
{consumer loans, vehicles purchase, personal needs, mortgages, overdrafts, credit cards faciliies and funds transfer
facilities), savings and deposit taking business, payment services and securiies business.

Corporate banking - Within corporate banking the Group provides corporations (including small-medium enterprises and public institutions)
with a range of financial products and services, including lending and deposit taking, providing cash management,
foreign commercial business, leasing, investment advices, financial planning, securities business, project and structured
finance transactions, syndicated loans and asset backed transactions. Principally handling loans and other credit
faciliies and deposit and current accounts for corporale and institutional customers and comprises the following:

Local comporate include;
Small and Medium Enterprises — companies having annual tumover > 1-8 million EUR;
Large Comoraie —companies having annual lumover > 8-50 million EUR;
Municipalities

Real Estate companies

Group Large Corporate — companies having annual tumover > 50 million EUR;
Comorate center — unallocated items and items which do not belong to business lines

Corporate finance, Treasury and Balance sheet management - principally providing investment banking services including money market and
treasury operations, syndicated loans and structured financing transactions, foreign currency and derivative
transactions, financial instrumenls trading and investment, issuance of bonds; within this segment the Group also
includes financial products and services provided by the leasing, insurance, brokerage, asse! management, real eslate
services and financial consullancy services operations of the Group.

The business segment reporting format is the Group's basis of segment reporting. Transactions between business segments are conducted at
arm's length.

Segment assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.
Unallocated items mainfy comprise property and equipment, intangible assets, other assets and other liabilities and taxation. The mapping of
individual accounts by main line items of income and expenses, respectively assets and liabiliies and equity, for purposes of segment reporting
is done on an intemal management approach, rather than an extemal financial reporting approach.

In order to split the Group results on business lines the following subsidiaries are allocated entirely on Retail segment: BCR Asset Manager'nent,
Good Bee Service, BCR Pensii SAFPP, Banca pentru Locuinte. Suport Colect, BCR Leasing and BCR Chisinau are split between Retail and
Corporate. Intragroup eliminations and consolidation adjustments are allocated on Corporate Center.
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Resul fom inancal assels - Aaiable for Saie # 15 . . . o) B0 8881 15
Proefore B 141 S0 (4345 2867 Q) IBME (100 W8 e
Iome texesense {97.088) (350 - {0 - (B - S (uX9
Profifor the year 111445 W (AN 15T B3 WS (1M e aen

Loeal Corporate

RON Thousand Retl  Comorte RedBstate GLC  CFO  Treaswy BSM  Cener  Group

Cash and Salances wh cenial banls 17 24481 ; 7 B 1068 1N
Loans and adiances b ceeditmsiions 155 8 . . M 1AE g TR
Loans and aances 0 cisiomers BT WA IRND 4HORA 10815 (00 52T
Risk proisions lorboans and aiances Q%G (LEIT00 (RN (16E%) - i IR ]
Trading asse’s . . 966,944 . 96,544
Financial assets - Desigeiaied al Eur vlue Frough PAL pal: ) . 761 1038 41989
Francid assess - il b sale . 1546 G167 3R91E B WS
Finantsal assets - Held e matinty IS k) 49840 544 18
Intangibhe assels 03640 06 nu
Propertyand equipment Y| u 0 169973 169,938
Taxassals 15 . . 4.3 55
Oerassels mu MIm o ome M . s 2
feseds hetd loe saie and cvsconinued ogerabons . - A4n M40
TOTAL ASSETS p X B TR O X Y v COLMRMY MBS AW TAEIOMS
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BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Graup - Business segments 2010

Local Corporate

RON Thousand Retil ~ Coporate RealEstate GLC  CFO  Treaswry BSM  Center  Growp

Depasts bybanks 1.481.3% 160,62 - 21%.%0 (13.29) 350
Repurchase agreemens 1,486 186
Cuslmer deposits & Dedl secumes missue 28067081 40 1% 463088 T040 {16,006) B.485,113
Demalies nanoel insiuments 1907 687 (13340 11847
Ot prosions 5146 ® U706 250%1
Taxhabilines B % il 4%.41 i
Ot habiies (M52%) s a8 49 540 162539 1688585
Subordialed abdiles {71442 19,49 ) 146730
Total Eqgy 1530642 M M 4BiE S 6T 34N L1 7.100,669
TOTAL LIABAITIES 0,588,765 GO9I MIAT  SMSMd WENTH G660 560979 119 T8
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BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Group - Business segments 2009

Local Real Corporate

RON Thousand Retail Corporate Estate GLC CFO Treasury BSM Center Group
Net Interest Income 2,629,213 836,145 76356 197731 135 5439  (185006) 258291 3,838,304
Risk Provisions for Loans

and Advances (1,552,988) (343,964} {91,196) {75,950) - - - {218,272} (2,282,380}
Net Commission Income 295,583 221,004 1,890 74581 1549 (4,324) ) 117,699 707,976
Net Trading Resull 53,736 32639 1,131 6,699 - 306,947 5,189 17,457 423,798
General  Administrative

Expenses (1,439,853) {255,800} {(13911) {43,456) (5,143 (34,405) {9,904) 93,868  (1,708,604)
Other Operating Resuft (142,492) {9,054) {152) (6,543) {40) {388) (54) 68,463 {90,260}
Result from financial

assels - Designated al

fair value: through PAL - 200 - - - 2,862 30,336 5,289 38,687
Resuf from financial

assefs - Available for sale 16 - - - - (9,939) 5,126 113,796 108,959
Profit before tax (156,785) 481170 (25882) 153052 (3.499) 266,192 (134319} 456591 1036520
Incame lax expense 25,791 {79,153} 4,258 (25,177) 576 (43,788) 22086 (75,062} {170,459)
Profit for the year (130,094) 402017 (21624) 121875 (2923) 22404 (112223) 381529 866,061

Local Real Corporate

RON Thousand Retail Corporate Estate GLC CFO Treasury BSM Center Groug
Cash and balances wilh

central banks 37383 - - - - - B5IMTET 1324381 9,896,521
Loans and advances io

credit instilutions 818,299 2,636 - - 1,370,903 1715 {300,587) 1,892,966
Loans and advances io

customers 26,977,806 17,194,816 2113388 3,480,292 - - 1,268,460 155524 51,160,286
Risk provisions for loans

and advances (2,639,142) {695,779) (99,964)  (130,711) - - - {(21,755)  (3,777,351)
Trading assels . . . . - 401,351 . . 401,351
Financial ~ assels -

Designated at fair value

{hrough P&L 26,050 - - - - 128,446 11,041 165,537
Fnancial  assels -

Available for sale 609,364 195,757 - - - 495186 2,313,724 {550,826) 3,063,235
Financial assets - Held o

maturity 232 864 - - - - 97 2,155,958 - 2,388,919
Intangible assets 74183 - - - 149 - 314,067 389,199
Property and equipment 19,034 72 - . - 39 1,707,455 1,726,600
Tax assefs 23,276 - - . - . - 183,038 206,314
Other assals 38923 160,202 - - - 226 - 1,624,390 1,823,741
Assets held for sale 65,166 . - - - - - 291 65,457
TOTAL ASSETS 26257186 16883754 2013424 3,319,581 . 2267951 14403060 4257819 69,402,775




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION {(continued)

Group - Business segments 2009

Local Real Corporate
RON Thousand Retail Corporate Estate GLC CFO Treasury BSM Center Group
Deposits by banks 3,602,707 164,349 . - - - 16,418,673 847721 2112345
Customer deposits &
Debt securities in issue 26,848,826 4,793,064 84131 4715618 - . - (278818) 36,162,821
Derivative financial
instrumenis - - - . - 1,756,803 3 1,756,800
Other provisions 1043 - - - - - 187559 188,602
Tax liahilities 31,441 . - - - 100 . 333,205 364,836
Other babiliies 57937 416 - . - 220 - 1240188 1,298,761
Subordinated liabilities 31,686 - . . - - 1906112 (31686) 1906112
Total Equity 1,794,374 1,344,662 174,208 396364 2116 70,346 9275 2810002 6,601,387
TOTAL LIABILITIES
AND EQUITY 32,457,964 6,302,491 258429 5111982 216 70666 20,000,864 5108263 69,402,775
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BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

3.

Bank - Business segments 2010

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Local Comporate

RON Thousand Retal Comorate RealEstate GLC  CFO  Treasuy BSM  Center  Growp
Nel nterest Income 210769 G WA 23 (/A <R T 1305 3608
Risk Prosisions for Loans and Advances (09561) (65506) (ZMOR)  (47.08) 19108 (1727,017)
Kel Gommission hcome “%t 15139 15 106676 - G4 R 1068 406
Nel Trading Restakt i 44 19 . - A0 (M6 7o X%
General Adminis rathe Expenses (35260 (3114  (M1¥9  (6H5 4 (RE  @a) 46 (168,712
Other Operatig Resut (56006 (6.88) ) [B0) 2 () (38) (831 (130474
Resul fom fmandal assets - Designated &t fairvalue fuough PAL

. (533) . - - MW 478 (17.734) 5
Resul iom fnancal assets - Avilable for sale M 154 - . e B W BM
Proft hefore bax H3176 190060 (142159) 2040 230 1S9 (1138 oy e
Income xespense Ba0 (86N BB (X X n naw (E.608)  (1M48.256)
Profit for tha year M8 M3 (Meds)  1MeS? (19 Wb (4T w4 M

Local Corporate

RON Thousand Retal Coporate RealEstte GLC  CFO  Treasuy BSM Center  Group
Cashand batances with cenial banks - . . - . - 349 5T 946850
Loans and advancas o credilins utions . . - - 141N 4% 14575
Loans and adiances i cusiomes HAALE 19104504 2670850 4001480 1828145 (312,217} 4,507,767
Riskprovisions for loans and advances N613570) (1250624  (300078)  (123026) . (151651)  (3.446,949)
Trading assels - . . - 966,14 . 965,344
Financial assels - Designated 2 Eainvalue thiough PAL LW - . . - I8 % 4%
Franoialassets - Avalable frsale 164,87 . . - BN 308 1104080 4063505
Finantial assels - Held o maurty . . . - - 4 4 39420
iangible assels . My 2068
Propertyand equipment [E i b
Taxassels 1057 189,527
Other assels 10 e
Bssets held forsale and discontinued operations - . . . - . - . .
TOTAL ASSETS 19501365 1814813 2500712 365044 - 03205 20060462 AR08 GO




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated and Bank

for the year ended 31 December 2010

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Bank - Businss segments 2010

Local Corporate
RON Thousand Retail Corporate RealEstate GLC ~ CPO  Treasuy BSM  Center  Group
Deposis bybanls . . : : ETVER TR
Repurchase agreements . - . . 188 188
Cuslomer deposit & Debi securties nssue 5802 40032 103 46308 119417 1985 37,9532
Derivaties finandial insuments - - - - 1788377 178837
Other provisions . Ve 2641
Taxfabiles . E% 650
Other iabifies 11930 1428562 (547872
Subordinatod Eahifies . . . . . 1967317 1967317
Tolal Equity LIGEI0 1261496 209704 WBeR 1M BWY 40 3%27% 749638
TOTAL LIABILITEES BB 6188 N0 4MMTH 1M M BN 6003675 &9,5180




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Barik - Business segments 2009

Local Real Corporate

RON Thousand Retall Corporate Estate GLC CFO Treasury BSM Center Bank
Net Interest [ncome 2,325,396 836,145 76,356 197,731 135 4700  (165,006) 343,335 3.618,792
Risk Pravisions for Loans

and Advances (1,351,451) {343,964) {91,196) (75,960) - - - (184650}  (2,047,221)
Net Comlmlssmn Income 263,804 221,004 1,880 74581 1549 (4,669) (6) 100,466 658,619
Net Trading Result 66,610 32639 1,131 6,699 . 06947 (21,541) 24,275 416,760
General  Adminisiralive

Expenses (1,369,477 {255,800) {13911) (43,456) (5,143} (31,449) {9,904) 107,842 (1,621,298)
Other Operaling Result {59,054) {9,054) {152) (6543)  (40) {173) (54) 194,779 119,708
Resull fom financial

assels - Designaled al

fair value through P&L - 200 - - - 2494 30,336 5,289 38319
Resull from financial

assels - Available for sale - - - - - {11,457) 5,126 115,326 108,995
Profit before tax (124,172) 481170 (25882) 153052 (3499) 266393  (160,040) 706662 1292675
[ncome tax expense 17,480 {67,734) 3,643 (21,545) 493 (37,500) 22671 {99,484) (181,976)
Profit for the year (108,692) 443436 {22,239) 134,507 (3,008) 228,893  (138,378) 607,178 1,110,699

Local Real Corporate

RON Thousand Retail Corporate Estate GLC CFo Treasury BSM Center Bank
Cash and balances with

ceniral banks - - - - - - 853757 1,284,433 9,819,190
Loans and advances lo

credil instifutions - - - - - 1,369,543 83,519 1,453,062
Loans and advances to

customers 22,872,999 17194815 2113388 3450292 - - 1,268460  (370,200) 46,529,754
Risk provisions for loans

and advances {1,785,962) (695,779) (99.964)  (130,711) - - (170,761)  (2.883,177)
Trading assets . . . - - 401,351 - . 401,351
Financial ~ assels -

Designated at lair value

through P&L - 26,050 - - - - 128,446 11,041 165,537
Francial  assels -

Available for sale 609,096 195,757 - - 405,083 2313724 202,208 3,815,888
Financial assels - Held to

maturity - - - - - - 2,155,958 - 2,155,958
Intangible assels - - - - - - 285,539 285,539
Property and equipment - - - - - - - 993,729 998,729
Tax assels - . - - - 149,168 149,168
Other assels R . 1,635,607 1,635,607
Assels held for sale . . - - - - - 201 291
TOTAL ASSETS 21696133 16720843 201344 3319581 - 2265077 14401345 4109574 64526877




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION {continued)

Bank - Business segments 2009

Local Real Corporate

RON Thousand Refail Corporate Estate GLC CFO Treasury BSM Center Bank
Deposits by banks - - - - - - 16,418,673 - 16418673
Cuslomer deposits &

Debl securiies in issue 26,617,558 4,793,064 84,131 4,715,618 - - - 148,243 36,359,614
Trading liabiliies . - - - - - 1,756,804 - 1,756,804
Ofher provisions " . . - - - - 179,752 179,752
Tax liabilities - . - . - - - 329,504 329,504
Other liabifiies . . - . . . <2557 1244587
Subordinaled liabilities - - . - - - 1906112 - 1,906,112
Tolal Equity 1,280,101 1,345,766 174,208 396,364 2,116 £8.592 7560 3079964 5,354,861
TOTAL  LIABILITES

AND EQUITY 27,897,659 6,138,830 258,429 5111982 2116 68,692 20,089,149 4,960,020 64,526,877
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BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

4. INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Due from banks 181,392 443,142 176,102 429,805
Loans and acwances to customers 5,171,416 6,475,950 4,816,650 6,096,511
Financial investments — available-for-sale 239,965 190,277 239,332 186,626
Financial imestments — held-to-malurity 332,34 134,485 308,915 132,725
Interest from derivatives 960,070 1,509,559 960,070 1,509,559
Dividend income 2,950 2,833 131,706 126,572
Renial income 11,222 11,328 12,172 9,342
Financial assels designaled al fair value through profil or loss 7,599 6,345 1,901 3,392
Other 5,989 66,445 1,219 728
6,912,947 8,840,364 6,648,067 8,495,260
Interest from derivatives includes the interest received from interest rate swap and cross cumency swap ransactions.
5. INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSE
Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Due lo banks 1,224,111 2,124,330 1,086,677 1,994,612
Due lo customers 1,530,006 2,455,323 1,518,447 2,450 500
Debl issued and other borrowed funds 30,599 410 30,999 44,191
Inlerest from derivalives 207,180 166,014 207,180 166,014
Subordinated liabililies 161,662 210,459 161,661 210,459
Oflher 9,166 1,663 9,165 1,602
3,163,164 5,002,060 2934129 4,876,468
6. NET FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME
Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Lending business 160,918 267,311 157,661 256,418
Paymen transfers 603,346 557,781 608,115 562,578
Other fees received 105,872 99,132 64,642 51,796
Total fees and commission income 870,137 924,224 830,418 870,794
Lending business 268,564 123,653 266,944 123,662
Payment {ransfers 115,843 88,065 113,799 86,335
Other fees paid 21,356 4530 8,823 2,178
Total fees and commlssion expense 405,763 216,248 389,566 212,175
Net fees and commission income 464,374 707,976 440,852 658,619




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

7. NET TRADING INCOME

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009

Debt securities and equity investments (i) 68,147 172,659 68,147 172,659

Net realized foreign exchange gains from foreign exchange

transaclions (ii) 213,549 235,368 213,549 233,618

Net efiect of Iranslation of foreign cumency denominated asset

and liabilities 29,355 15,771 10,870 10,285

Net trading income 31,051 423,798 292,566 416,760

{ Net trading income from debt securities and equity investments classified as {rading and from fair value through profit or loss

financial assets includes the effect of buying and selling, and changes in the fair value of investments.
(i Net realized foreign exchange gains from foreign exchange Iransactions include gains and losses mainly from money market

instruments and also from curency swaps, spot and forward confracts.

8. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Group Bank
ROM Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009

Gainsf{losses) from sales of awilable-for-sale financial imvestments (i) 47,531 (5,163) 41,743 (5,167)
Gains/({losses) from sales of fixed assets (ii) 3,767 - {46,498} 12478
Rewersal of impairment of financial assets awailable for sale (iii) - 150,000 - 150,000
Release and utilizalion of provisions for litigations (Note 30) 2,694 2.1 2,582 2.1
Other () 22,060 51,438 26,110 46,999

76,052 228,486 2990 348,781
{i) Included in *Gains/(losses) from sales of available-for-sale financial investments® are the amounts transferred from equity to the

income statement on the derecognizing of available-for-sale investments.

(ii) During 2010 and 2009 BCR Bank sold land and buildings to BCR subsidiaries specialized in real estate management, which are
fully consolidated in BCR Group.

{iif} Reversal of impairment for parficipation in Anglo-Romanian Bank.

{iv) Other income includes income from non-banking activities, mainly services related to cash transportation and collection, indemnities
paid by insurance companies, services of Electronic Archive registration, and sales of payment documents.




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

9. CREDITLOSS EXPENSE

Group Bank

RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Loans and advances to customers

Retail 795,387 1,552,988 698,651 1,351,451
Local Corporate 902,604 324,23 763,453 324,304
Real Estate 240,3% 91,196 232,798 91,196
Group large comporate 28,570 22,825 16,953 23,022
Corporate Center {3,559) 218,271 {19,108} 184,650

1,963,398 2.209.511 1,692,747 1,974,623

Financlal guarantee contracts 34,270 72,869 34,270 72,598
1,097 668 2,282,380 1,727,017 2,047,221

Financial guarantee expense is allocated to the Large Corporate and Group Large Corporale segments.

10. PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Group Bank

RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Wages and salaries 644,277 673,038 561,102 613,041
Social security costs 209,852 216,477 191,252 201,983
Benefit paid on normal age retirement — Defined benefit plan costs
(Note 31)
Interesl cosl 5,733 5525 5733 5,525
Cument senice cost 7,068 6,013 7,068 6,820
Pasl Senice Cost 2,362 2,820 2,362 2,820
Total defined benefit plan costs 15,163 15,158 15,163 15,165
Cortribution pension plan 4,451 17,070 2,509 13,160

§73,693 921,743 770,026 843,349

The number of employees of the Bank at 31 December 2010 was 8,020 employees (31 December 2009 was 8,713 employees). The number
of the employees of the Group at 31 December 2010 was 9,130 employees (31 December 2009 was 9,339 employees).




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

11. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Group Bank

RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Adwertising and marketing 59,053 65,442 48,045 53,570
Administrative 542,327 544179 703,030 568,360
Payment into deposit insurance fund 63,785 55,952 63,388 55,899
Allocation of impaiment of financial assels available-for-sale (i) 3379 35,838 3,379 35,838
Allocation of impairment of assets held for sale 4,735 - - -
Selling losses from praperties and movables 72,222 634
Impairment of goods repossessed from lease contracts - 76,311 - -
Other 146,307 41,013 49,280 28,340

891,808 819,369 867,122 732,007
(i) Impaimment of available for sale shares and fund unils.
Audit fees in 2010 were RON 3,213 thousand (2009: RON 3,879 thousand).
12. TAXATION
Consolidated income statement
The componenis of income tax expense are:

Group Bank

RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Curmrent income tax 45,294 28,502 18,049 26,057
Deferred tax refating lo originalion and reversal of temporary diflerences 128975 141,957 130,210 155919
Income tax expense reported in the income statement 174,269 170,459 148,259 181,976

Reconciliation of the total tax charge

A reconciliation between the tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by Romania's tax rate for the years ended 31 December 2010 and

2009 is as follows:
Group Bank

RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Accounting profit before tax 641,911 1,036,520 880,091 1,292,675
At slatutory income lax rate of 16% (2009: 16%) 102,874 166,115 140,815 206,828
Effect of different tax rates in olher counlries 16,062 14,331 - -
Income not subjest lo lax {1,883) (33,619) {21,413) {62,813)
Non deductible expenses 57,216 23,632 28,857 27,961
Income tax axpense reported in the income statement 174,269 170,458 148,259 181,876
The effective lax rale 27.15% 16.45% 16.85% 14.08%




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank

for the year ended 31 December 2010

12.  TAXATION (continued)
Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Deferred tax related to items charged or credited directly to equity during the year is as follows:

GROUP

2010 2010 2010 010 2009 2009 2009 2009

Actuarial Net Actuarial Net

gains/  Availablefor investment gains/ Availablefor- invesment
RON Thousand (losses)  sale reserve  hedge Total  (losses) sale reserve  hedge Total
A1 January 9,546 (8,652) (3,857 (2,969 9,109 (42,159) - {33,050)
Nel gain of financial imestmenls (awalable-for-sale) . 3,068 -3 . 33507 - 1N
Nel investment hedge - (1,413} {1,413) . - {3,857) (3,867
Acluarial gains f (lesses) 3,64 - - 364 497 - - &
At 3 December 13,180 {5,601) {5210) 2309 9,546 (8,652} {3,857)  (2,963)
BANK

2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009
Actuarial Available- Actuarial
Available-for-  gains/ forsale  gains/

RON Thousand sale resarve  (losses) Total resarve  (losses) Total
At1January (8,620) 9,696 1,076  (41,286) 9,035 (32,251)
Net gain of financial investmenls {awailable-for-sale) 2,794 - 2794 32,666 - 32,666
Acluarial gains / (losses) - 3,480 3,480 - 661 661
At 31 December {5,826} 13,176 7,350 (8,620) 9,696 1,076

The deferred tax included in the balance sheet and changes recorded in the income tax expense are as follows:

¥



BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

12.  TAXATION (continued)

GROUP
Deferred Deferred Income  Deferred Deferrad Income
tax asset tax liability statement tax assat tax llabllity statement
RON Thousand 2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2008
Loans to customers, credit institutions - {482,800) (149,515) - (333,286) (153,376}
Available-for-sale resene - 5,601 - - 8,652 -
Flnancial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss - 306 1,048 - (742) (2,500}
Financial investments — available-for-sale - (31,775) 2 - (31,777} 35
Held 10 maturity portfollo - (11,308} (735) - {10,573} {10,573}
Intangible assets - {10,919) 2,930 - {13,849) (468}
Properly and equipment 19,650 {3,780} (8,324) 19,913 4,281 20,031
Other assets . {7,614) 6,669 - (14,203) (19,370}
Tax losses caried forward (including curent year) 33962 10,326 12,772 30,770 745 29,100
Amounis owed to cuslomers, credil instilutions - {146) 176 - (322) 838
Debts issued and other bormowed funds - - (1) - - 128
Provisions for retirement benefils - 4,393 {3,780} - 9,956 1,283
Other provisions - 11,944 8,157 - 5,870 (4,401)
Other liabllities - 12,007 3,626 - 6,470 {2,666)
Net invesimenl hedge - 5,270 - “ 3857 -
53,612 (499,405) (128,975 50,683  (363,001)  (141,957)
BANK
Deferred Deferred Income Deferted Deferred  Income
tax assst tax llabllity stalement tax asset tax liabllity siatement
RON Thousand 2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009
Loans lo customers, credit institutions - (458,754)  (153,184) - (305,560) (121,317)
Available-for-sale resene - 5,825 - - 8,620 -
Financial assels designaled at falr value through profit or loss - 1,091 1,046 - 45 {2,436)
Financial imestments - avallable-for-sale - (30,855} 3 - (30,844) {128)
Financial investments - held to malurity {734) {734 - -
Iniangible assels - {1,228) 12,216 - {13,444} 115
Properly and equipment - (4,758) (10,011} - 5,254 893
Other assels - (6,141} 6,848 - (12,989) (17,760)
Amounls owed lo customers, credil institutions - (147) 122 - (269) 784
Debts issued and other bomowed funds - . - . - 129
Provision for retirement benefits - 28,315 9,212 - 22,523 3am
Olher lfabilities - 1,3% 4,187 . (2,790)  (18,510)
- (465,900)  (130,210) - [329,504)  (155,919)

Deferred tax on loans to customers is due to the temporary difference befween statutory allowance and IFRS allowance {refer to Nole 33).




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

13, COMPONENTS OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Group Bank

RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Available-for-sale financial investments

Net gainfoss) on awailable-for-sale fnancial imesiments (18,415) 8657 {18,355) 45219
Reclassification for gain/{ loss) mtluded in income stalement 35,816 {#1,052) 35,821 {41,082)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operalions 1521 M5

Net loss on hedge of nel imesiment {6,208) (26,730) . -
Actuaiizl gains on defined benefil plans 21,75 3,25 24,753 412
Income lax refating lo the components of oiher comprehensive income {5,234) (30,087) (6,274) (33.327)

5,23 188,584 N 1498

14. DIVIDENDS PAID
Declared and paid by the Bank lo the holders of the parent during the year.

No dividends were paid in 2010 {2009; RON 813,072 thousand}.

15. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Cash on hand (Note 35) 995,116 1,262,004 983,537 1,264,433
Current accounl with the central banks {Note 35) 8,550,279 8,604,517 8,484,966 8,534,757

9,545,395 9,696,521 9,468,523 9,819,1%0

The cumrent accounts held by the Bank with National Bank of Romania are for compliance with the minimum reserve requirements. Mandatory
reserve rales were for RON 15% (December 2009 : 15%} and for foreign currencies 25% (December 2009 : 26%).

The mandatory minimum reserve level calculated for 31 December 2010 is EUR 996,740 thousand and RON 4,128,162 thousand {for 31
December 2009 is EUR 1,007,638 thousand and RON 3,477,896 thousand)

16. DUE FROM BANKS

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Noslro account 67,488 207,983 57,728 140,301
Placements wilh (he ceniral banks (i) 416 44,176 416 293
Placements with other banks 1,659,878 1,485,153 1,353,635 1,228,949
Loans and advances 1o banks 43,956 155,654 43,856 83,519
1,774,738 1,802,966 1,455,736 1,453,062

(i) Placements with the Central Bank represent collateral deposits for ongoeing litigations,
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17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PRCFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets Held for Trading

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Listed equity investments (i) 1,185 3,481 1,195 3,491
Unlisted debt securities {ji) 956,773 397,860 956,773 397,860
Listed bonds 8,976 - 8,976 -
966,944 401,351 966,944 401,351
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Listed equily investments (i) 10,389 11,041 10,389 11,041
Lisled debl secunties {jii) 23,963 93,799 23,963 93,799
Unlisted equity imeslments (iv) 7,61 60,697 7611 60.697
41,963 165,537 41,983 165,537
{i Listed equity investmenis include shares issued by Financial Investment Companies (SIFs), Erste Bank, BRD and Daimler and
quoted on Bucharest Stock Exchange
(i Unlisted debt securities include Romanian sovereign bands;

(il Debt securities issued by municipalities;
(iv} Unlisted equity investments include investments in units funds adminislered by Ersle Asset Management.

18. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Public sector (i) 6,756,286 5,600,724 6,606,271 5,449,473
Commercial cuslomers 22,869,571 21,468,209 21,082,960 18,429,546
Privale customers 22,612,740 24,070,666 20,918,536 22,565,048
52,238,597 51,144,599 48,607,767 486,514,087
Less: Allowance for impairment losses {4,844,910) (3,777,351} (3,445,949) (2,883,177}
47,393,607 47,367,248 45,180,818 43,630,690

{ij including governmental credit
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18.  LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (continued)

{a} Allowance for impairment losses

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
At1 January 3,771,351 2,154,022 2,883,177 211,413
Charges for Lhe year (Note 9) 1,963,398 2,209,511 1,692,747 1,974,623
Recoweries 12177 5,442 - 2,710
Amounts writien off {10,130} (3,325) - -
Effect of change in foreign exchange 51,515 52,025 32,700 37,713
Unwinding (190,181} (86,696) {190,181) (86,697)
Sale of doubiful loans(i) (759,220) (553,628) {971,4%4)  (1,156,585)
At 31 Dacember 4,844,910 3,777,351 3,446,949 2,883,177

i) During 2010 and 2009 BCR Bank sold doubtful loans to workout companies oufside BCR Group and also to workoul companies which are
BCR subsidiaries and are fully consolidaled in BCR Group.

{b) Analysis by sector
Group Bank

RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Privale households 20,188,941 21,024,482 18,666,326 19,805,619
Banking and insurance 611,764 905,793 801,435 866,834
Manufacturing 8,362,643 8,054,292 7,549,222 7,384,488
Construclion 5,406,236 4,560,497 4,929,848 4,144,724
Public administration 6,707,028 5,134,502 6,623,741 5,065,550
Trade 4,399,405 4,712,487 3,685,116 3,813,235
Agriculture and foreslry 1,546,461 1,738,285 1,443,917 1,631,918
Transporl and communicalion 1,453,667 1,634,982 875,671 948,721
Otlher senice activilies 708,999 1,048,584 544, 929 820,259
Heallh and social work 146,887 151,212 103,328 105,181
Real eslate and housing 854,105 791,617 1,720,340 755,159
Energy and water supply 937,677 623,300 898,371 592,542
Hotels and restauranis 502,968 569,024 415,363 472,274
Mining 362,007 171,084 330,191 94,478
Other 49,809 24,458 19,969 13,087

52,238,597 51,144,589 48,607,767 46,514,067
Less: allowance for impairment losses (4,844,910) (3,777,351} (3,446,949) {2,883,177)

47,393,687 47,367,248 45,160,818 43,630,890
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18.  LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (continued)
c) Finance lease receivables

The Group acts as a lessor under finance leases through the subsidiary BCR Leasing SA, mainly on motor vehicles and equipment. The leases
are mainly denominated in EUR and lypically run for a period of befween 1-15 years, with transfer of ownership of the leased asset at the end of
the lease term. Interest is charged over the period of the lease based on fixed and vaniable (based on EURIBOR) interest rates. The receivables
are secured by the underlying assets and by other collaieral. Loans and advances to customers include the fallowing finance lease receivables:

RON thousand 2010 2009

Gross investmeni in finance leases 1,821,308 2,396,373
Uneamed finance income (224,120} {304,198)
Aliowance for impaimeni (204,520} (115,459)
Net Investment [n finance leases 1,392,668 1,976,715

Net imesiment in finance leases, with remaining malurities

Less than one year 423,685 652,781
Between one and five years 749,582 1,147,058
More {han five years 219,401 176,876
Net investment in finance leases 1,392,668 1,976,715

19. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

Available-for-sale
Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2008 2010 2009
Listed investments
Debt securities 403,194 - 358,934 -
Equilies 20,670 19,029 17,269 19,029
423,064 19,029 ar7,203 19,029
Nondisted investments
Olher debl securilies 3,469,876 3,008,220 3,419,581 2,999,747
Unlisted equity securilies 7,446 11,798 - 4,816
Equilies:
- investments in subsidiaries (i} - - 1,141,049 766,514
- other investments 24,185 24,188 25,762 25,762
3,501,507 3,044,206 4,586,392 3,796,839
Total available for sale investments 3,925,371 3,063,235 4,963,595 3,815,068

All unquoted available-for-sale equities are recarded at fair value except for the Bank's investments in subsidiaries and other companies, i_n
amount of RON 1,166,811 thousand, which are recorded at cost since their fair values cannot be reliably estimaled (2009: the same). There is
no market for this investments and the Bank intends to hold them for the long term.
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19. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (continued)

(i)Movement in investments in subsidiaries :

Subsidlary RON Thousand Description

BCR Chisinau — MDL 59,239 increase In existing capital
BCR Finance BY - EUR 6,754 increase in exisling capital
BCR Leasing [FN SA 80,000 increase in existing capital
BCR Pensii, Socielale de Administrare a Fondurilor de Pensii Private SA 42,800 increase in existing capital
BCR Partener IFN SA 130 increase in exisling capital
Super Colect SRL 7.389 Increase In existing capital
BCR Real Eslate Management SRL 161,179 increase in exisling capilal
Good.bee Service RO SRL 17,044  acquisilion of new subsidiary
Total 374,535

Listed equilies include investmenis in Financial Investment Companies ("SIF’s") shares quoted on Bucharest Stock Exchange

Listed debi securities include state bonds quoted on Bucharest Stock Exchange and bonds issued by municipalities.

Unlisted debt securities available for sale of Group and Bank include ireasury bifls denominated in RON and foreign curencies, state bonds
issued by the Romanian Gevernment in foreign currencies and municipality bonds.

Unlisted equity securifies include investments in unit funds administrated by Erste Asset Management.

Held-to-maturity
Group Bank _
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
NorHisled debl securilies 637,608 - 637,608 -
Listed debl securilies 4,804 610 2,388,919 4360812 2,155,958

5,442,218 2,388,919 4,998,420 2,155,958

The financial investmenis held-to-maturity include Romanian Govemment bonds, being eligible assets with National Bank of Romania,

On 31 December 2010, govemnment bonds in amount of RON 89,477 thousand (31 December 2008; RON 88,722 thousand} have been used
as collateral o the National Bank of Romania in order to ensure final setflement of inlerbank multilateral clearing operations according to NER
Rule No. /2005, for the seftlement of transactions through ROCLEAR Bucharest, NBR's Clearing House, and VISA and MasterCard card

transactions.
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20, PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Group Bank
Other Other
I;Z:dd;;: ﬁ:'r:pwl::: furnlure and Total t:;:i?\n: ﬁgzau:: furniture and Total
RON Thousand equipment 9 equipment
Cost:
At 1 January 2010 1,687,150 310,346 763,446 2,760,942 797,393 302,971 741,509 1,841,873
Additions 57,860 37,846 83,837 179,543 26,898 34,490 7172 132,560
Disposals {125,957) (6,074) (19,067)  (154,098) (348,217 {5.933) {16,507) (370,657)
Reclassificalion - 297,639 {297,639) - - 299,548 (299,548) -
Exchange adjustment {754) 121 (42) {675) - - - -
At 31 December 2010 1,618,299 636,878 530,535 2,785,712 476,074 631,076 496,626 1,603,776
Depreciation and impairment:
At1 January 2010 309,025 243,172 481,545 1,034,342 135,506 218,955 468,683 843,144
Disposals (70,712) (9,038) (12,780) (92530 (34,589 (5932) {12,879) (113,394)
Depreciation charge for the year 53,241 66,403 30,624 150,268 29,840 65,66 27221 122,750
Reclassification - 166,912 {166,912) - - 153,783 (153,783} -
Exchange adjustment 159 {29 (436) {306) - - - -
At 31 December 2010 201,713 468,020 332041 10,774 70,763 452,495 329,242 852,500
Net book value;
At 1 January 2010 1,378,125 66,574 201901 1,726,600 661,887 64,016 272,826 998,729
At 31 Dacember 2010 1326586 166,858 199,494 1,693,938 405311 178,581 167,384 751,276
Cost:
At1 January 2009 1,630,689 279,481 724,853 2,634,733 1,520,079 274,145 710,536 2,504,760
Additions 49,537 29,864 55,697 135,098 40,451 29,110 49,590 119,151
Disposals - (2,491} (23,447} (25,938) (763,137} (264) {18,617} (782,038)
Reclassification fom asseis held for
sale of ARB fixed assels 6,672 3732 6,330 16,734 - -
Exchange adjusiment 252 60 3 N5 - - - -
At 31 December 2009 1,687,150 30,446 763,446 2,760,042 797,393 302,97 741,509 1,841,873
Depreciation and impairment.
At1 January 2008 257,102 216,184 440,917 914,203 245,202 213,696 432,572 894,470
Disposals - (2,491) (23,447) (25,938)  {154,3%) (284) (18.617) {173,292}
Depreciation chamge for the year 49,386 26,785 58,312 134,483 44,695 25,543 54,728 124,966
Reclassification from assels held for
sale of ARB fixed assets 243 3314 5,200 10,945 . - -
Exchange adjusiment 106 {20} 563 649 - - - -
At 3 Decembar 2009 309,025 243,772 481,545 1,034,342 135,506 238,955 468,683 843,144
Net book value:
At1 January 2008 1,373,587 62,997 283046 1,720,530 174677 60,449 77,8964 1,613,280
At 31 December 2009 1,378,125 66,574 281,901 1,726,600 61,887 64,016 271 836 833,78

The fair value of land and buildings is RON 1,465,351 thousand for the Group and RON 477,261 thousand for the Bank. The fair value of land
and buildings has been assessed as at 31 December 2009 by an independent evaluator.

There are no fixed assets pledged as collateral as at 31 December 2010, and 31 December 2009.

The total cost of the Bank's tangible fixed assets fully amortized at the end of 2010 was RON 393,577 thousand.
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2. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

RON Thousand Group Bank

. Computer Customer Computer

Goodwill software relationship Total saft:are

Cogt:
At 1 January 2010 36,552 481,709 72,547 590,808 476,799
Addilions 9,723 68,435 34,502 112,660 64,850
Disposals - {30,575) {106) (30,681} {66,519)
Exchange adjustment - 367 - 387 -
At 31 December 2010 46,275 519,936 106,943 673,154 455,130
Amortization:
At 1 January 2010 - 200,753 856 201,609 191,260
Disposals - (3,476) {106) {3,582) (1,629)
Amoniizalion charge for Ihe year - 46,465 4,533 50,998 44 861
Exchange adjustment - (191) - (191} -
At 31 December 2010 - 243,551 5,283 248,834 234,492

Net book value;

At 1 January 2010 36,552 280,956 71,691 389,199 205,539
At 31 Dacember 2010 = 46275 276,385 101,860 424,320 220,636
Cog:

At 1 January 2009 36,552 392,230 - 428,782 387,052
Additions - 93,791 72,547 166,338 92,943
Reclassificalion from assefs held for sale

of ARB fixed assels - 11,306 - 11,306 -
Disposals - (15,761} - {15.761) {3,196)
Exchange adjusiment - 143 - 143 -
At 31 December 2009 36,552 481,709 72,547 590,808 476,799
Amortization:

At 1 January 2009 - 155,056 - 155,056 153,403
Disposals - (6,864} - {6,864) {3,196)
Reclassification from assels held for sale -

of ARB fixed assels 10,551 - 10,551 -
Amortization charge for the year - 41,900 856 42,756 41,053
Exchange adjustment - 110 - 110 -
At 31 December 2009 - 200,753 856 201,609 191,260
Net book value:

At 1 January 2009 36,552 237,174 - 273,726 233,649
At 31 December 2009 36,552 280,856 71,691 389,199 285,539

The inlangible assets comprise mainly software and the increase is due to the acquisition of software applications.
No impairment test of goodwill was performed, due to low maleriality level. . B .
Cuslomer relationships arise from acquisition of pension contracts by the subsidiary BCR Pensii, Societate de Administrare a Fondurilor de

Pensil Private SA, from another pension fund.
The total cost of the Bank's intangible fixed assets fully amortized a the end of 2010 was RON 160,736 thousand.
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22, OTHER ASSETS

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Accrued interest receivable, net of provision for impaimment 1,345,624 1,209,258 1,078,087 1,058,540
Prepayments 78,653 35,480 61,233 17,962
Other recehables * 663,345 486,017 545,162 466,119
Fair value hedge / measurement of hedged item - 79,764 - 79,764

2,087,622 1,810,519 1,684,482 1,622,385

* Other receivables include accrued commissions and receivables from other sundry debtors.

Accrued interest receivable

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Due fom banks 2,804 135,810 2,641 34,115
Due from customers, net of provision 1,026,340 755,562 778,248 T17.008
Financial insfruments — assels 96,685 169,433 96,356 162,964
Other inferest bearing assels 218,705 78,355 200,842 78,355
Derivalives - 66,008 - 66,008

1,345,624 1,200,258 1,078,087 1,058,540

23. DUETOBANKS

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Deposits from other banks 17,256,172 14,891,153 16,940,219 14,101,008
Currenl accounts of olher banks 97,081 180,655 93,027 180,655
Bomowings and financing lines 4,470,279 6,051,648 1,869,067 2,136,920

21,823,532 21,123,456 18,902,313 16,418,673




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

23. DUE TC BANKS (continued)

The outstanding loans principal arising from the main financing agreements obtained by the Bank is presenied below:

RON thousand 2010 2009

Intemational Finance Corporalion, USA (i) 408,340 497 550
European Bank for Reconstiuction and Development for mortgage loans {ji) 81,503 171,087
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development — SME (jii) 428,480 422,820
European Bank for Reconstruction and Dewelopment — SMM (iv) 71,415 74,857
EBRD- EEFF (v} 82,635 27,553
EBRD- CSF {v) 61,211 63,423
European Investment Bank - Global Loan (vi) 207,099 211,410
European Investment Bank ~ Lcans for SMEs {uiil) 128,544 -
A bank from Germmany - 33,762
A bank from Austria - 126,834
A bank from Hungary 28,565 65,714
A bank from Germany 85,696 84,654
Olher loans 285,579 357,256
Total 1,869,067 2,136,920

i} International Finance Corporation (“IFC")
The Bank has concluded three financing agreements with IFC.

The first agreement was dated 17 December 2002, its purpose being to improve the structure of Bank's balance sheet by reducing maturity
mismatches between foreign currency assels and foreign cumrency liabilities, and lo expand Banks activities with privale sector firms and
individuals. Committed amount represented USD 75,000,000 and has been fully drawn by the Bank. The reimbursements were due in biannual
instaliments starting with 15 June 2006 and ending on 15 December 2009. Interest payment was biannual at a variable interest rafe of LIBOR 6
months plus a revised margin. Based on the amendment dated December 2005, the ouistanding loan payable of USD 67,500,000 was
converted into a EUR facility, the loan balance being EUR 15,299,615 at 31 December 2010. This revised facility is payable in semi-annual
equal installments starting with 15 December 2006 and ending on 15 December 2012 with interest payments also biannual at a variable inlerest
rate of EURIBOR 6 months plus a revised margin.

The second agreement is dated 5 December 2006, its purpose being to provide the Bank with long-term funds lo expand its lending to small
and medium enterprises and lo strengthen its retail lending, Committed amount represents EUR 75,000,000 which has been fully drawn by the
Bank. The balance at 31 December 2010 was EUR 30,000,000. The reimbursements are due in biannual installments starting with 15 June
2008 and ending on 15 December 2012, Interest payment is biannual at a variable interest rate of EURIBOR & months plus a revised margin.

The third agreement is dated 30 June 2008, its purpose being to provide the Bank with long-term funds to expand its lending to the clients from
agribusiness sector. Committed amount represent EUR 50,000,000 which has been fully drawn by the Bank. The balance at 31 December
2010 was EUR 50,000,000. The reimbursements are due in biannual instaliments starting with 15 Juty 2011 and ending on 15 July 2014.
Interest payment is biannual at a variable interest rate of EURIBOR 6 months plus a revised margin.

if) European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“EBRD") mortgage loans
The Bank has concluded 2 finance agreements with EBRD for mortgage loans.
The first agreement is dated 14 January 2003, fis purpose being to grant mortgages for real estate (houses, fiats, and the respective land), as

the case may be and the like used or to be used by individual sub-borrowers for personal use in Romania or legal entity sub-borrowers for
constructing or buying houses, fiats or the like in Romania for their employees.

47



BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

23. DUE TO BANKS (continued)

Committed amount represenls EUR 50,000,000 and drawn-downs can be either in EUR or USD. At 25 November 2006 an amendment to this
agreement was signed, which among other provisions stipulates that the new repayment period will start on 17 May 2008 in 21 biannual equal
instalimenls on 17 May and 17 November. Interest is payable semi-annually at a variable interest rale of LIBOR & months plus a revised
margin. On the basis of the second amendment signed at 7 February 2007, at 14 February 2007 a conversion of the outstanding loan from
USD to EUR has been made. Consequently the balance of the loan after conversion became 41,984,237 EUR and the repayment period
started on 17 May 2008. On 30 December 2010 a prepayment in amount of EUR 16,681,584 has been made. The balance was EUR
13,307,156 as of 31 December 2010 (31 December 2009, EUR 33,987,239).

The second agreement is dated 25 November 2005, its purpose also being fo grant mortgages for sub-borrowers. Committed amount
represents EUR 50,000,000 and drawn-downs can be either in EUR or USD. Bank has drawn only EUR 8,000,000 of the agreement amount
and BERD cancelled undrawn balance in amount of EUR 42,000,000.

The loan is repayable in drawn-down in 21 equal bi-annual installments, starting with 17 may 2008, payable on 17 May and 17 November.
Interest is payable semi-annually al a variable interest rate of LIBOR 6 months plus a revised margin. At 31 December 2010 the oulstanding
balance of the loan was of EUR 5,714,285 (31 December 2009, EUR 6,476,190).

iii) European Bank for Reconstruction and Development - Small and Medium Enterprises (SME [ll)

The agreement dated 30 March 2009 amounting EUR 100,000,000 represents a Credit Line for small and medium-sized enterprises, used for
financing investment projects and working capital. The loan was confracled for 5 years and has a grace period of 2 years; the first capital
payment will be on 12 Seplember 2011. As of 31 December 2010 the oulstanding principal is EUR 100,000,000 (31 December 2008, EUR
100,000,000). The loan re-payment is made in equal biannual installments on 12 March and 12 Seplember. Interest payment is also made in
biannual instaliments.

iv) European Bank for Reconstruction and Development - Small and Medium-sized Municipalities (SMM)

The agreement dated 21 December 2004 represents a Finance Facility for small and medium-sized municipalities, their associations and ity
companies held or controlled by them, to improve public services, upgrade infrastructure and meet EU environmental direciives. Under this
Facility, BCR and the SMM borrowers are the recipients of grants provided by the EU in the limit of EUR 3,000,000, in order to support the SMiM
borrowers and encourage the long term lending, as follows: for BCR — Maturity Enhancement Fee (EUR 1,000,000}, Performance Fee (EUR
275,000) and Technical Co-Operation Support (EUR 300,000); for SMM borrowers - Municipality Financial Incentive (EUR 550,000) and
Technical Assistance (EUR 875,000).

The commitied amount is EUR 20,000,000. As at 31 December 2010 the oulstanding loan principal is EUR 16,666,938 (31 December 2009:
EUR 17,704,347). The loan re-payment is made in equal biannual installments on 19 May and 19 November. Interest payment is also made in
biannual installments.

v) European Bank for Reconstruction and Development for energy efficiency projects with the support of the European Union

The agreement was concluded on 24 January 2008 and is a faclity for financing investment in the indusirial sector to reduce energy
consumption and improving energy performance. Based on the amended dated March 31, 2010 the amount of the facility was increased up to
EUR 30,000,000. Under this facility, both BCR and sub-ienders are beneficiary of financial incentives fo encourage jong-term loans, as follows:
for BCR - performance fee {up lo EUR 1,150,000) and free assistance provided by EBRD consultants for the prometion of Ipans and for bank
staff training on compliance with eligibility criteria; sub-lenders - financial incentive (4,500,000 EURY), and free technical assistance lo prepare
documentation on the investment and lo verify implementation. Committed amount is EUR 19,285,714 at 31 December 2010. Loan repayment
is made in biannual installments, on June 12 and December 12 starting from 2010. Inferest is paid in hali-yearly installments.

vi) European Bank for Reconstruction and Development to support the competitiveness of SMEs supported European Union and the
Romanian Government, through the Ministry of Development, Public Works and Housing

The agreement was concluded on 15 May 2008 and represents a facility financing to SMEs to meet one or more _Priority Directive_as of ﬂ)e
European Union on environmental protection, safety and health at work, quality and safety of producls applicable in the relevant industrial
sector. Under this Facility, both BCR and SMEs are the beneficiaries of financial incentives to encourage long-term loans, as follows: _fqr BCR-
Administrative incentive fup to EUR 400,000) and free assistance provided by EBRD consultants for the promotion of loans and for training of
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23. DUE TO BANKS (continued)

bank staff on compliance with eligibility criteria; for SME borowers - financial incentive (4,000,000 EUR), and free technical assistance to
prepare documentation on the investment and to verify implementation. Committed amount is EUR 14,285,714 at 31 December 2010. Loan
repayment is made in biannual installmenls, on June 12 and December 12 starting from 2010. Interest payment is also made in biannual
installments.

vii) European Investment Bank (E!B} - Global Loan

BCR signed with the EIB on 24 November 2006 the financing for a loan in the overall total of EUR 50 million, for financing investment projects of
small or medium size, developed by SMEs in any field (except the restricted / excluded from the EIB) and / or other privale or public enfities,
regardless of their size and structure of soclal capital in fields of environment, infrastructure, knowledge based economy, ralional use of energy,
health, education. The loan was confracted with Erste Bank Guarantee.

As of 31 December 2010 the cuistanding loan is EUR 48,333,333 (31 December 2009: EUR 50,000,000}. The firsl franche amounting EUR
10,000,000 will be repaid in biannual installments, on May 23 and November 23. The loan was contracted for 8 years and has a grace period of
2 years; the firsi capital payment was on 24 May 2010. Interest is paid in half-yearly installments, at the same dates as the principal. The second
tranche in value of EUR 25,000,000 has a bullei repayment on 10 February 2017, with a semiannual inlerest payment. The third tranche in
value of EUR 15,000,000 has a bullet repayment on 13 April 2017, with a semiannual inferest paymenl.

viii) European Investment Bank (EIB} - Loan for SMEs

BCR signed with the EIB on 18 December 2009 the financing for a loan in the overall lotal of EUR 75 million, for financing investments and
expenditures incurred in the context of the development of SMEs in the field of agriculture, industry, tourism and services. The loan was
contracted with Erste Bank Guarantee.

As of 31 December 2010 the outstanding loan is EUR 30,000,000 (31 December 2009; EUR 0). The first tranche amounting EUR 30,000,000
will be repaid in biannual installments, on January 12 and July 12. The first tranche was contracted for 12 years with a grace period of 2 years;
the first capital payment will be on 12 July 2013. interest is paid in half-yearly inslaiments, at the same dates as the principal.

The final maturiies of loans from banks and other financial institutions other than the facilties provided by EBRD and IFC, vary between
January 2011 and February 2027.

In general, the loan agreements concluded with the banks and other financial institutions provide that i the Bank fails to perform any of its
obligations under these agreements or any other agreements between the Bank and the other banks and financial institutions and such failure
continues for a certain period after the other banks and financial institutions noify the Bank of that failure, these banks and ofhier financial
institutions may, under certain circumstances and by nofice (o the Bank, require the Bank to repay the loans immediately.

No assels of the Bank have been pledged as collateral for the above loans.

24, ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Assets held for sale of RON 29,429 thousand in 2010 {RON 65,457 thousand in 2009) comprise repossessed cars from the leasing activity.
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25. DUE TO CUSTOMERS

Group Bank

RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Corporate customers:
Cument accounts 1,767,332 1,587,767 1,739,013 1,475,749
Temm deposits 8,132,202 7,551,413 8,177,394 8,112,925
Retail customers:
Current/saving accounts 5,197,202 6,301,462 5,179,374 6,288,265
Term deposits 22,730,200 20,186,967 22,191,365 19,947,963

37,826,936 35,628,109 37,287,146 35,824,902

Included in ‘Due lo cuslomers' were deposits of RON 431,831 thousand in 2010 {2009: RON 392,266 thousand) held as collateral for
commitments and letters of guaranties.

26. DEBT ISSUED AND OTHER BORROWED FUNDS

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Bonds issued 428,034 138,074 428,034 138,074
Cerificales ol deposil 210,143 396,638 210,143 396,638
638,177 534,712 638,177 534,712

During 2010 the Bank issued new listed medium term noles denominated in RON in amount of RON 185 million and fisted medium term noles
denominaied in EUR in amount of EUR 24.2 million.

27. SUBORDINATED LIABILIMES
In 2009, the Bank contracted one subordinated loan in EUR as follows:

s EUR 120,000 thousand with the maturity date of 30 September 2016.
In 2008, the Bank contracted two subordinated loans in RON as follows:

+  RON 550,000 thousand with the maturity date on 17 April 2018;
«  RON 780,000 thousand with the maturity date on 18 December 2018,

The loan agreements do not stipulale circumstances in which early disbursement is required and no provisions for converfing subordinaled debt
in equity or other liability.

As of 31 December 2010 the outstanding nominal amount of subordinated bonds issued by BCR was : EUR 23.5 million and RON 20 million.




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

28, DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

RON Thousand 2010 2009
Assets Liabilities  Notional Assets  Liabiliies  Notional
Hedging instruments
Cross cumency and interest rate swaps 17,557 1,726,250 11,626,882 - 1,836,482 1219221
Interes! rale swaps 14,755 26,524 70,000 - - -
32,2 1,752,774 11,696,862 - 1,836482 12,192,231
Darivatives-other than hedging insruments
Foreign cumrency swaps and forward conlracts 4,703 2788 3,184,084 12,564 - 3,692,020
Interest rale swaps 11,744 1,828,773 - 10,871 77137
Waranls 1,170 180 247,993 514 418 124,564
Options 5,102 6,014 1,085,998 144 382 121,670
Cross cumency and inleresl raie swaps 14,877 376,346 - 83 47,076
10,975 35603 6,703,194 13,222 11,754 4,362,476
TOTAL 43,287 1,788,377 18,400,076 13,222 1,848,236 16,554,707

Fair value hedges are used by the Bank to protect it against changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial liabiliies due to
movements in exchange raies and interest rates. The financial instruments hedged for interest rate risk include bonds issued and deposits.
The Bank uses currency swaps to hedge against specifically identified curency risks, and interest rate swaps to hedge interest rate risk.

The fair value of hedged items atfributable to the hedged risks amounted to RON 194,757 thousand as liabilities, presented in Note 28 (2009:

RON 79,764 thousand as assels).

Included in ‘Due to banks' at 31 December 2010 were deposiis of EUR 80 million {equivalent lo approximaiely RON 343 million), which have
been designated as a hedge of the bank's net investment in its UK subsidiary, and is being used to hedge the Bank's exposure io foreign
exchange fisk on this investment. Gains or losses on the retranslation of the deposits are transferred to equity 1o offset any gains or losses on
translation of the net investments in the subsidiary. No ineffectiveness from hedges of net investments in foreign operations was recognised in

profit or loss during the year {2009: Nil).

29. OTHER LIABILITIES

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Accrued inlerest payable (i) 391,056 491,452 379,284 465,171
Accourls payable and sundry credilors 1,042,577 643,377 920,169 589,378
Defered income 60,125 65,802 53,662 58,878
Measurement of hedged flem (Fair value hedge) 194,757 194,757 -
1,688,515 1,200,631 1,547,872 1,123,427
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29, OTHER LIABILITIES (continued)

i) Accrued interest payable relates to the following financing sources:
Group Bank
RON Thousand 2090 2009 2010 2009
Due lo banks 157,561 188,228 136,291 162,605
Due to customers 222,591 280,342 232,089 279,684
Debt issued and olher borrowed funds 10,904 13,882 10,904 13,862
Desivatives - 5,000 - 9,000
391,056 4,452 379,284 465,171
30. PROVISIONS
Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Provision for guaraniees off-balance sheet 109,701 75,721 109,569 75,323
Provision for retirement benefiis (Note 31) 55,660 65,444 54,582 65,444
Provision for litigations 63,287 39,630 58,244 38,986
Provision for restructuring (i) 21,227 7,808 - -
Provislons for lay-offs 4,076 6,693 4,076 6,693
253,951 195,298 226,471 166,446
{i} Provision for restructuring London and Bucharest branches of Anglo-Remanian Bank subsidiary {2010),
{iy Provision for restructuring Frankfurl branch of Anglo-Romanian Bank subsidiary (2009).
The movement of provisions during 2010 is as follows:
GROUP
Provision for
Provision for  Provision for Provisionsfor guarantees off
RON Thousand restructuring litigations lay-offs balance sheef
At 1 January 2010 7,808 39,630 6,693 75,721
Avrising during the year 2221 24,303 4,078 34,269
Released {7,808) - - -
Utilised (Note B} - (2,694) {6,693) -
Exchange-rale difference 2,048 - (289)
At 31 December 2010 21,2271 63,287 4,076 109,701
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30. PROVISIONS (continued)

Bank
Provision for

Provision for  Provisions for guarantees off
RON Thousand litigations lay-offs balance shest
At 1 January 2010 328,986 6,693 75,323
Arising during the year 20,053 4,076 34,269
Utilised (Note 8) (2,582) (6,693) -
Exchange-rate difference 1,787 - {23)
At 31 December 2010 58,244 4,076 409,569

31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

Group Bank

RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2000
Opening defined benefit obligation 65,444 60,264 65,444 59,976
Inleresl cosl 5733 5,525 5,733 5,525
Cumeni senice cosl 7.068 6,813 7.068 6,820
Benelits paid (3,194) {3,108) {3,181) (2,747)
Actuarial losses on obligations {21,753) (4,043) (21,753) (4,123)
Past senice cost 2,362 2,820 2,362 2,820
Curtailment of benefils/ Transfer of benefils to new subsidiary “ {2,827) {1,091) (2,827)

55,660 65,444 54,582 65,444

Defined benefit obligation

According to the collective labor agreement, employees of the Bank are enlitied to one lump sum payment on the date of normal age
refirement, of up to 6 gross monthly salaries (the Bank) and up to 3 gross monthty salaries (the subsidiary), depending on seniority. During 2010
a number of 171 employees of the Bank were transferred to a subsidiary, where they enjoy the same beneft.

This is a defined benefit plan that defines an amount of benefit that an employee s entitied to receive on the date of normal age refirement,
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary. A full actuarial valuation by a qualified independent actuary is
carmied out every year.

The plan liability is measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method adjusted for unrecognized actuarial gains and losses.
The defined benefit plan liabifty is discounted using rates equivalenl to the market yields at the balance sheet date of high-quality corporate
bonds thai are denominaled in the cumency in which benefits will be paid, and that have a maturity approximating lo the terms of the related
Fability. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized in the statement
of changes in equity.

The principal assumptions used in determining the defined benefit obligation of the Group's plan are shown below:

2010 2009

% %

Discount rate 6.7% 7.5%

Future salary increases 3% 5%
Mortality rates ETTL- PAGLER ETTL- PAGLER
Disability rates ETTL- PAGLER ETTL- PAGLER
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32, ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES

The statutory share capital of the Bank as at 31 December 2010 is represented by 792,468,750 ordinary shares of RON 1.30 each (31
December 2009: 792,468,750 ordinary shares of RON 1 each). The shareholders of the Bank are as follows:

200 2009

Number of shares  Percentage  Number of shares Percentage

holding {%) holding (%)
Ersie Group Bank Ceps Holding GmbH 550,020,232 69.4059 549,230,910 §9.3063
Socielalea de Imestitii Financiare (*SIF") ,Banat Crisana’ 47,548,125 6.0000 47,548,125 6.0000
Socielatea de mesfilii Financiare (‘SIF"}  Moldowa' 47,548,125 6.0000 47,548,125 6.0000
Societatea de Imeslilii Financiare (*SIF*} ,Transihania® 47,548,125 6.0000 47,548,125 6.0000
Socielatea de Imesfitii Financiare ("SIF*) Munlenia® 47,546,125 6.0000 47,548,125 6.0000
Societalea de tmeslitii Financiare (“SIF} Oltenia* 48,479,420 6.1175 48,479,429 6.1175
SAl Aviva Inveslors Romania SA 1,000 0.0001 1,000 0.0001
SC Actimvest SA 15,773 0.0020 15,773 0.0020
SC Carina Import Exporl SRL 4,376 0.0006 4,376 0.0006
SC Milord Impex SRL 1,951 0.0003 1,951 0.0003
SC Cozamin SRL - 10,647 0.0013
Individuals 3,753,489 0473 4,532,164 0.5719
Total 792,468,750 100 792,468,750 100

In May 2010 the General Meeting of Shareholders of BCR approved the increase of the Bank's share capiial with RON 237,740 thousand from
the net profit for the year 2009. The increase of the share capital was made by increase in the nominal value of shares from RON 1 each to

RON 1.30 each,

EGHB Ceps Holding GmbH increased its participation to 69.4059% from BCR's issued capital, following additional buying of shares from

minority between 1-22 September 2010.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitied to pericdically receive dividends as declared and are entitled to one vote per share at the general

shareholders’ meetings of the Bank.

The reconciliation of the statutory share capital of the Bank to the share capital in the balance sheet is presenled below:

RON thousand 2010 2000

Share capilal as per Romanian statutory accounts 1,030,209 792,469

IAS 29 hyperinflation adjustment recorded in prior years {i.e. until 31 December 2003) 1,327,224 1,327,224
2,357,433 2,119,693

Share capital In the IFRS balance sheet

The reconciiation of opening and closing balances of reserves attributable to the holders of the parent Bank is presented below:
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32.1SSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

Other Capital Reserves
GROUP 210
Foreign
Availabledorsale  curency Actuarial gain { P:nagen:ient Net Investment Othzl Totl
reserva trangation {loss) arelup o hedgs wp ¢
RON Thousand resorve plan feseve
M1 Janvary 2010 (46,026) 134402 50,23 1,285 (22873 1,000,940 1125001
Fairvalue change in avaitable-or-s e financid assels 1762 - - - - 17,628
Actuaridl gains / (losses) . 1,75 2,753
MS0P . - .
Net loss on hedge of nel imeslment . - (6.208) (6.208)
Tax eflesl {3.081) (3.634) 1413 {8.272)
Transtation resene 149 . - (184) 1.4
At 31 December 2010 (31,449 141,90 66,352 1,385 (@7.668) 1,007,756 1,160,286
Group 2009
Forelgn
Available- cumency Management Net Other
for-sale translation  Actuarial  shareoption  Investment  capital
RON Thousand reserve reserve gain / {loss) plan hedge reserve Total
At 1 January 2009 {220,064) 102,583 47,373 1,395 - 1005271 936,539
Net gain on avaiable-for-sale financial
assels 207,561 - - - - 207,561
Acluanial gain on defined benefit plans - - 37 - - 3297
Nel loss on hedge of netinvestment - - - . {26,730) {26,730)
Tax effect (33,503) (437) - 3,857 - {30,083)
Translation reserve - 31,819 - - - 2,668 34,488
At 31 December 2009 {46,026) 134,402 50,233 1,395 (22,873) 1,007,940 1,125,071
Bank 2010
s Management .
Available-for-sale Alctl;alrial share option Otr::rs::v ;:tal Total
RON Thousand resarve galn / floss) plan
At1 January 2010 (45,250} 50,919 1,385 993,756 1,000,820
Fair value change in awailable-for-sale financial assets 17,466 - . - 17,466
Acluanal gain / (joss) - 2,783 - N,153
Tax effect (2,794) {3,480 - - {6,274)
At 31 December 2010 (30,578} 69,192 1,395 993,756 1,033,765
Bank 2009
Management
Avallablefor-  Actuarialgain/  shareopion  Other capital
RON Thousand sale resarve (loss) reserve plan reserves Total
At 1 January 2009 (218,751) 47457 1,395 993,756 825,857
Fair value change in available-for-sale financial assets 204,167 - - - 204,167
Actuarial gain / (loss} - 4123 - 4123
Tax effect (32,6686} {661) - - (33,321}
AL 31 December 2009 {45,250) 50,018 1,395 993,756 1,000,820
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33. RECONCILIATION OF STATUTORY PROFIT, SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES WITH IFRS BALANCES

GROUP 2010

RON Thousand Nat profit Rasarves Share capital
Bank - statutory 55,427 3,753,510 1,030,209
Subsidiaries - statutory, net of consolidation adjustments (116,461) 159,891 -
Loans allowance 579,330 2,215,628 -
Loans — effeclive interest rale 45,796 516,990 -
Fair value through profit and loss (9,207) (41,862) -
Property and equipment - (705,844) -
Equily investments - (3,416) -
Insurance business - (21,874) -
Bormowings - amorlized cosl (762) (29,353) -
Retirement benefit {10,890} (8,792) -
Rewersal of provision for inlerest 142,558 487,027 -
Reintegration of loans previously written-off 164,647 341,258 -
Share capital restatement for hyperinflation - (1,327,224) 1,327,224
Available-for-sale resene - (36,983) -
Actuarial gainsflosses - 82,372 -
Translation reserve - 141,500 -
Impairment of asseis held for sale (69,011) (71,134) -
Managemenl share cplion programm - 1,395 -
Deferred tax (128,975) (499,513) -
Other 1,267 164,447 -
Intragroup eliminalion dividends (204,950} (365,787} -
Nel invesiment hedge 6,208 (32,938) -
Total BCR Group 464,977 4,719,698 2,357,433
Minorily interest 2,665 26,532 -
Total 467,642 4,746,230 2,357,433
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33. RECONCILIATION OF STATUTORY PROFIT, SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES WITH IFRS BALANCES (continued)

GROUP 2009

RON Thousand Net profit Reserves Share capital
Bank - statutory 237973 3,826,569 792,469
Subsidlaries - statutory, net of consolidation

adjustments (234,105) 276,352 -
Loans allowance 049,957 1,636,297

Loans - effective interesi rate 203,914 471,184

Fair value through profit or loss 15,598 (32,655) )
Property and equipment - {705,844 )
Equity invesiments . (3,416) -
Insurance business B (21,874) -
Borrowings - amortized cosl (4.902) (28,591) -
Retirement benefit {9,591) 2,008 -
Reversal of provision for interest 344 469 344 469 -
Reintegration of loans previously writlen-off (523.909) 176,611 .
Share capilal restatement for hyperinflation . (1,327,224} 1,327,224
Avallable-for-sale reserve - (54,612) -
Actuarial gainsflosses - 60,619

Translation reserve - 134,402

impaimment of assets held for sale {12,123) {12,123)

Management share option program - 1,395 -
Deferred tax {141,957) {370,538) -
Other 170,855 32,037 -
Intragroup elimination of dividends {124,487} {160,837} -
Deconsolidation of insurance companies effect - (42,670)

Nel investmenl hedge - (26,730}

Total BCR Group 871,692 4,454,928 2,119,693
Minority inlerest {5,631} 26,766

Total 866,061 4,481,694 2,119,693
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33. RECONCILIATION OF STATUTORY PROFIT, SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES WITH IFRS BALANCES (continued)

Bank 2010
RON Thousand Net profit Resarves Share capital
Statutory 55,427 3,753,510 1,030,209
Loans - allowance for impaiment losses 698,277 2,256,382 -
Loans - effective inlerest rate 45,796 516,990 -
Fair value through profit and loss (9,914) (42,849) -
Properly and equipment {42,945) {613.623) -
Equity investments - (3,416) -
Retirement benefit (10,890) (8,918) -
Finance lease liability - (1,161} -
Borrowings - amorlized cosl (762) (29,353) -
Renversal of provision for interest 142,558 497,027 -
Relnlegralion of [oans previously wrillen-off 1,360 56,891 -
Share capital restatement for hyperinfiation - (1.327,224) 1,327,224
Available-for-sale reserve - 38,613 -
Actuaral gains/losses - 82,372 -
Managemenl share oplion program - 1,395 -
Deferred tax {130.210) (515,711) -
Other (16,865) 111,260 -
Total 731,832 4,762,205 2,357,433

Bank 2008

RON Thousand Net profit Reserves Share capital

Statutory 237,973 3,826,568 792,469

Loans - allowance for impaiment losses 871,765 1,658,105

Loans - effective interest rate 203,914 471,194 -

Fair value through profit and loss 15,228 (32,935) -

Property and equipment 84,924 {670,678)

Equity invesimenis - (3.416) -

Retirement benefil (9.591) 1972 )

Finance lease liability (81} {1.161)

Borrowings - amortized cost (4.902) {28.591)

Reversal of provisian for ineresl 344,469 344,469 )

Reintegralion of Ioans previously written-off {644,9689) 55,531 -

Share capilal restalement for hyperinfiation (1.327,224) 1327224

Available-for-sale reserve - (53.870) .

Aciuarial gaing/losses ) 60619 .

Managemenk share option program - 1,395

Deferred tax (155,919) (385,502)

Other 167,906 318,692

1,110,600 4235168 2,119,693

Total
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34. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Falr value is the amount for which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than forced
sale or liquidation. The fair value is best evidenced by a quoted market price, if such exists.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimale the fair value of the Group's financial instruments.

Financial assets

Loans originated by the Group and leases are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rates less any impaiment reserve. The
interest rale of approximalely 95% of these assets is variable based on current market rates, and consequently, the camying amounts of these
assets approximate their fair value.

For deposits with banks, amortized cost is estimated to approximate fair value due lo their short-lerm nature, interest rates reflecting current
markel conditions and no significant transaction costs. The amortized cost of treasury securities was not materially different from their quoted

prices.

The remeasured cost net of any reserve for impairment of investments that are not listed at a stock exchange is estimaled to approximate their
fair value.

Financial liabilities

The amortized cost of cuslomer deposits and borowings is considered to approximate their respecive fair values, since these ilems have
predominanty short re-pricing terms, cany interest rates reflecting current market conditions and are settled without significant transaction cosls.
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34, FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (confinued)

The Bank uses the following hierarchy for delermining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation lechnique:

Level 1: quoled (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, &ither directly or
indirectly; and

Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data.

Group 2010
RON Thousand Level 1 Lavel 2 Laval 3 Total

Financial assats

Derivative financlal instruments
Hedging instrumants

Cross cumency and interesi rate swaps - 17,557 - 17,557
Interest rale swaps - 14,755 - 14,755
32,312 - 32,312

Derivatives-other than hedging Instruments
Foreign cumency swaps and forwand coniracts - 4,703 - 4,703
Warranls - 1,170 - 1,170
Options - 5,102 - 5.102
- 10,975 - 10,975
- 43,287 - 43,287

Financlal assets held for trading

Govemmenl debl secuiilies - 965,749 - 965,749
Quoted securilies 1,195 - - 1,195
1,195 965,749 - 966,944
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Quoted invesiments 10,389 - - 10,389
Debt securities - 7.611 23,963 31,574
10,389 7,611 23,963 41,963
Financlal investmenis avallable-for-sale
Quoled imvestments 63,930 - - 63,930
Govemment debl securties - 3,644,991 - 364493
Debl securities - - 184,879 184,879
Unquoted imesiments - 7,446 - 7,446

63,930 3,652,377 184,879 3,801,186
75,514 4,669,025 209,842 4,953,380

Financlal liabilities

Darivative financial Insruments
Hedging Instruments

Cross cumency and inleres! rate swaps - 1,726,250 - 1,726,250
Inlerest rate swaps - 26,524 - 26,524
- 1,752,774 - 1,782,174
Dearivatives-other than hedging instruments
Foreign cumrency swaps and forward conlracts - 2,788 - 2,788
Interest rale swaps - 11,744 - 11,744
Wamanls - 180 - 180
Oplions - 6,014 - 6,014
Cross cumency swaps {non-hedging) - 14,877 - 14,877
- 35,603 - 35,603
- 1,788,377 - 1,788,377

The RON 24,185 thousand difference between the total fair value of available for sale assets in the lable above and the balance sheet amount
is due to the equity invesimenis recorded at cost (Note 19).
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34. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Group 2009
RON Thousand Level 1 Lavel 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets

Derivative financial instruments

Foreign cumency swaps and forward conlracts - 12,564 - 12,564
Warrants . 514 - 514
Options - 144 - 144

- 13,222 - 13222

Other financial assets held for frading

Governmenl debi securities - KK AL - 331,816
Quoted securities 69,535 - - 69,535
69,535 331,816 - 401,351

Financial assets deslgnated at fair value through profit or fess

Quoted investmenis 11,041 - - 11,041
Government debt securilies - 67,749 - 67,749
Debt securities - 26,050 26,050
Unquoated invesimenls - 60,697 - 60,697
11,041 128,446 26,050 165,537
Financial Investments available-for-sale
Quoled investmenls 19,029 - - 19,029
Govemmen debt securiies - 2,812,463 - 2,812,463
Unquoted investments - 11,798 - 11,798
Debl securities - 195,757 195,757
19,029 2,824,284 195,757 3,039,047
99,605 3,297,745 221,807 3,619,157
Financial liabliities
Derivative financial Instruments
Foreign curency swaps and forward conlracts - 1,836,565 - 1,836,565
Waranls - 418 - 418
Interest rate swaps - 10,671 - 10,8M
Options - 382 - 382
- 1,848,236 S 18482%

The RON 24,188 thousand difference between the lolal fair value of available for sale assets in the table above and the balance sheet amount
i due fo the equity investments recorded at cost (Note 19).
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34, FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {continued)

Bank 2010

RON Thousand Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets
Darivative financial instruments
Hedging Instruments

Cross currency and Interest rate swaps - 17,557 - 17,557

Interest rale swaps - 14,755 - 14,755
- 32,312 - 32,312

Derivalives-other than hedging instruments

Foreign cumency swaps and forward conlracls - 4,682 - 4,682

Warrants - 1,170 - 1,170

Options - 5102 - 5,102
- 10,954 " 10,954
- 43,266 - 43,266

Other financial assets held for Frading

Govemment debt securilies - 965,749 - 965,749
Quoted securilies 1,185 - - 1,185
1,195 965,749 - 066,944

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss

Quoled invesimenis 10,389 - - 10,389

Debl securilles - 7,611 23,963 31,574
10,389 7,611 23,963 41,963

Financial investments available-for-sale

Quoted inveslmenls 17,269 - - 17,269

Govemment debl securities - 3,594,636 - 3,594 636

Debt securities - - 184,879 184,879

17,269 3,594,836 184,879 3,796,784
28,854 4,611,263 208,841 4,848,958

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial Instruments
Hedging instruments

Cross cumency and interesl rate swaps - 1,726,250 - 1,726,250
Interes| rale swaps - 26,524 - 26,524
- 1,152,774 - 1,752,774
Derivatives-other than hedging insruments
Forelgn currency swaps and forward contracls - 2,788 - 2,788
Inlerest rate swaps - 11,744 - 11,744
Warranis - 180 - 180
Oplions - 6,014 - 6,014
Cross currency swaps (non-hedging) - 14,877 - 14,877
- 35,603 - 35,603
- 1,788,377 - 1,788,377

The RON 1,166,811 thousand difference between the total fair value of available for sale assets in the table above and the balance sheet
amount is due to the equity investments recorded at cost (Note 18).
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34. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {continued)

Bank 2009

RON Thousand Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assefs

Derivative financial instruments

Foreign cumency swaps and forward contracts - 12,564 - 12,564
Warranis - 514 - 514
Interes! rale oplions - 144 . 144

- 13,222 - 13,222

Other financial assets held for trading

Govemment debl securities - 331,816 - 331,816
Quoted securiies 69,535 - - 69,535
69,535 818 - 401,351

Financial assefs designated at fair value through profit or loss

Quoled investments 11,041 - - 11,041
Governmen debt securities - 67,749 - 67,749
Debl securities - - 26,050 26,050
Unquoted investmenis - 60,697 - 60,697

11,044 128,446 26,050 165,537

Financlal investments available-for-sale

Quoted investments 19,029 - 19,029
Govemnment debl securities - 2,803,990 - 2,803,990
Debt securities - - 195,757 185,757
Unquoted investments - 4,816 . 4,816
19,029 2,808,806 195,757 3,023,592
29,605 3,282,290 221,807 3,603,702
Financlal liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Foreign cumency swaps and lorward contracts - 1,836,569 - 1,836,569
Warranls . 418 - 418
Interest rate swaps - 10,871 - 10,871
Options - KhYJ - 382
- 1,848,240 - 1,848,240

The RON 792,276 thousand difference between the total fair value of available for sale assels in the table above and the balance sheet amount
is due lo the equity investments recorded af cost (Note 19).
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34. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Movements in lavel 3 financial instruments measured at fair value

At1January  Tofal gaing/{losses)  Total gains/(losses) At 31 December
d
RON Thousan 2010 recorded in profit or loss recorded in equity Purchases 2010
Financial assets - AfS 195,767 - (11,311} 493 184,879
Financial assets - FY 26,050 {2,088) - - 23,962
Total level 3 financial assets 21,807 (2,088) {11,371) 493 208,841
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Cash and cash equivalents

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Cash on hand {Note 15) 995,116 1,292,004 983,537 1,284,433
Cumrenl account with the cenlral banks (Note 15} 8,550,279 B,604,517 8,484,986 8,534,757
Due from banks 1,668,283 1,774,343 1,416,093 1,366,243
11,213,678 11,670,864 10,884,616 11,185,433
Change [n operating assets
Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Net change in due from banks {15,168) 64,432 47.177) 29,750
Net change in everse repurchase agreements (15,887) 2,037 (15,687) 2,037
Financial assels held for trading 585,593 178,329 565,593 178,331
Net change in financial assels designaied at fair value lhrough profit or loss {123,574) {26,058) (123,574) {25,908}
Net change in lcans and advances lo cusiomers 995,327 3,026,878 2,950,626 2,481,187
Net change in olher assels 273,989 476,514 62,097 514,804
Net change in assets held for sale {36.028) 3,297 (291) -
1,644,452 3,725,429 3,391,587 3,180,201
Change In operating llabilltles
Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Nel change in due to banks 2,281,445 {1,371,493) 2,751,493 (1,769,833)
Nel change in repurchase agreemenls 1,886 (114,233) 1,886 {114,233)
Net change in derivalive financial invesimenls (89,824) 435,037 (89,207) 435,041
Net change in due lo cuslomers 2,012,332 2,386,629 1,275,749 2,240,536
Net change in other liabililies 487,884 {376.695) 424,445 (3986,810)
4,693,623 959,245 4,363,666 394,701
Non-cash ltems Included In profit before tax
Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Depreciation of properly and equipment (Note 20) 150,268 134,483 122,750 124,966
Amorlization of intangible assets (Nole 21) 50,908 42,758 44,861 41,063
Impairment lpsses on loans and advances lo cuslomers (Note 8) 1,963,398 2,209,511 1,692,748 1,974,623
Provision for of-balance sheet exposure (Nole 8) 34,269 72,869 34,269 72,598
Provision charge/{release) for liligations {Nole 30} 24,303 {28,686) 20,053 (28,888}
Provisions for lay-offs (Nole 30) 4,076 - 4,076 -
Provisions for restrucluring (Nole 30) 21,227 7,808 - -
Provision for defined benefil obligation (Note 31) 15,163 15,158 15,163 15,165
Impairment of available-for-sale investments (Nole 11) 3,378 35,838 3,379 35,838
Impairmenl chargel(release) for Assels held for sale {Notes 8,11) - {150,000) - {150,000}
Net effecl of lranslation of foreign cumency denominated asset and liabililies {Note 7} (29,355) {15,771} (10,870) (10,285)
Other non-monelary adjustments - 31,542 - 20,570
2,237,127 2,355,508 1,926,429 2,085,642
Net gain from investing activitias
Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Nel gain/(loss) from sale of financial investments (Nole 6) 47,531 (5,163) 41,743 (5.167)
Net gain{loss) fom sale of properly and equipment (Note B8) (27,086) (8,897) (46,498) 124,738
Dividend income {Note 4) 2,950 2,833 131,706 126,572
23,395 (11,227) 128,951 246,143
Payments made against provisions
Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2008 2010 009
Provision for relirement benefits {Note 31} 3,194 3,108 4,27 2,747
Provision for lay-off and early relirement (Note 30} 6,693 28,311 6,693 28,311
Provision for reslruclunng 7,808 - - -
Provision for litigations (Nole 30} 2,694 346 2,582 346
20,389 31,765 13,546 31,404
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36. INTEREST RATE SENSITIVITY

The table below analyses the Bank's interest rate risk exposure on non-trading financial assets and liabilities. The Bank’s assets and liabilities
are included at camying amount and calegorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or malurity dates.

Bank 2010
less then 1 103 Jtob 6to12  Overl Not Total

RON Thousand monih months months  months year  sensifive

Assats

Cash and balances with ceniral banks 8,484,986 - - - 983,537 9,468,523

Due fom banks 1,383,743 31,992 30,000 - - . 1,455,735

Loans and advances lo customers 15,0717 17,209,135 7,233,666 2,180,043 3,520,851 - 45,160,818

Financial investments - available-for- sale 483,791 441,233 857351 1445668 728831 1,006,721 4,963,595

Financial investments - held-to- maturiy - - - 300,000 4,698,420 - 4,996,420

Total assets 25,379,637 17,662,360 8,121,017 3925717 9,948,902 1,990,258 66,047,091

Liabilities

Due io banks 11,384,582 4,822,756 1,718,518 216,756 759,691 18,902,313

Due 10 customers 11,730,635 15,859,883 3862,963 2083379 3,750,286 37,287 146

Debl issued and olher bormowed funds - 192,048 16,774 - 429357 638,177
Subordinated Liabililies 1,330,000 514,176 - - 123441 1.967 317

Total liabillties 24,445,227 21,388,801 5,598,255 2,300,135 5,062,475 - 58,794,953

Nal 934,410  (3,706,501) 2,522,762 1,625,582 3,885,627 1,990,258 7,252,138

Bank 2009

RON Thousand less then 1 103 it 6012 Over1 Non-

month months Gmonths months year interest
bearing Tofal

ASSETS
Cash and balances with central banks 9,819,190 - - - - 9,819,180
Due from banks 1,326,439 83,330 40,000 3,000 293 1,453,062
Reverse repurchase agreements 15,687 - - - - - 15,687
|.oans and advances to cuslomers 12,295,418 5362675 9,707,164  150967,502 298,11 - 43,630,890
Financial investments - available-for-sale 132,503 292,351 381,458 1,218,256 975,180 816,120 3,815,868
Financial investmenls - held-io-maturity - 104,743 19,037 160,218 1,871,960 - 2,155,958
TOTAL 23,589,237 5843000 10147,850 17,348976 3145564  B16120 60,800,655
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Due to banks 13,274,257 520124 1,637,784 986,508 - - 16418673
Due 1o cuslomers 22,500,179 9,186,508 2,357,236 1,635,833 145,056 35,824,902
Debt issued and other borrowed funds 249113 101,710 26,098 18,111 139,680 - 534,712
Subordinaled Liabilities 1,837,384 - - - 68,728 - 1,006,112
TOTAL LIABILITIES 37860933 0808432 4021118 2,640,452 353,464 54,684,399
NET {14,271,696)  {3,965333) 6,126,541 14,708,524 2792100 816120 6,206,256
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37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Contingent liabiliiies 3,681,801 4207129 3,492,519 4,126,443
Commitments 3,552,134 4,431,642 3,416,969 4,318,285

7,233,935 8,709,371 6,909,568 8444720

Contingent liabilities
The Group issues letters of credit, guarantees (including standby letters of credit) and commits fo make payments on behalf of customers in the
event of a specific act, generally related to the import or export of goods.

Undrawn loan commitments

Undrawn loan commitments represent contractual commilments to grant loans and revolving credits. Commitments generalty have fixed expiry
dales, or other termination clauses. Since commitments may expire without being drawn upon, the lofal coniract amounts do not necessarily
represent future cash requirements.

However, the potential credit loss is less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to extend credit are contingent uniil the
customers maintain specific standards. The Group monitors the maturity of credit commitments as longer-term commitmenls generally have a
greater degree of credit risk than shorter-flerm commitments.

Legal claims

Litigation is a common occurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business. The Group has an established protocol for dealing
with such legal claims. Once professional advice has been obtained and the amount of damages reasonably estimated, the Group makes
adjustments to account for any adverse effects which the claims may have on its financial standing. The Group has several unresolved legal
claims for which the provisions were made in accordance with IAS 37 requirements in amount of RON 58,244 thousand as at 31 December
2010 (31 December 2009: RON 38,986 thousand) for the Bank, and in amount of RON 63,287 thousand (31 December 2009: RON 39,630
thousand) for the Group (Note 30). ‘
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38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Parties are considered to be relaled if one party has the ability to conirol the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in
making financial or operational decisions. In considering each possible related party refationship, attention is directed to the substance of the

relationship, not merely the legal form.

The nature of the related party relationships for those related parties with whom the Group enlered info significant transacfions or had significant
balances outstanding at 31 December 2010 are detailed below. Transactions were entered into with related parties during the course of

business at market rates.

Transactions with shareholders

The following transactions were carmied out with iis shareholders, Erste Group Bank CEPS Holding GmbH, SIF Banat-Crisana SA, SIF Moldova

SA, SIF Munienia SA, SIF Ottenia SA, SIF Transitvania SA, at market rates.

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Assats
Due from banks 273,712 255,048 165,786 193,004
Financial assels held for lrading - 69,535 - 69,535
Financial assels deslgnated at fair value Lhrough profil or loss 10,380 11,042 10,390 11,042
Invesiments securities available-for-sale 17,269 19,029 17,269 19,029
Derivaiive financlal instruments 36,389 13,915 36,389 13,874
Other assets 8 145,857 3 145,857
Total assats 337,768 514,428 229,837 452,431
Liabilities
Deposits from customers 91,744 150,303 91,744 150,303
Loans from banks and other financial instilutions 19,179,669 18,533,047 16,320,448 13,817,247
Denvative financial inslrumenls 1,753,634 1,854,331 1,753,634 1,854,331
Subordinated liabililes 1,844,176 1,837,384 1,844,176 1,837,384
Olher liabilitles 433,190 188,688 422,992 163,465
Total liabilities 23,302,413 22,563,753 20,432,984 17,922,730
Guarantees granted 948,677 1,950,110 948,677 1,950,110
Income
Interest and dividend Income 867,186 1,451,643 867,000 1,451,576
Commission income 42,315 33,508 42,315 33,508
Total income 909,501 1,485,151 909,405 1,485,084
Expense
Interest expense 1,442,884 2,245,855 1,285,742 2,126,127
Commission expense 223,774 90,931 221,990 90,873
Net trading expense 150,887 658,288 150,887 658,208
Other 56,427 41,994 M
Total expense 1,873,972 3,037,068 1,711,944 2,917,282
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38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

Transactions with fellow subsidiaries members of Erste Group:

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Assats
Due from banks 20,243 338 20,243 338
Total 20,243 338 20,243 338
Llabllities
Deposits from banks 475,049 4,062 475,049 4,062
Loans from banks and other financial instilutions 42,620 42,363 42,620 42,363
Due lo cusiomers 230,640 - 230,640 -
Other fiabilities 1,591 198 1,591 198
Total 749,900 46,623 749,900 48,623
Income
Inieresi income 28 9g5 28 985
Commission income 14,508 - 14,508 -
Total income 14,537 995 14,537 995
Expense
Interest expense 1,012 214 1,012 2,14
Other operaling expenses 29.119 30.916 29,119 30.916
Total expense 30,131 33,050 30,131 33,050
Transactions with management

The Group entered into a number of banking transactions with the management in the normal course of business.

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the
Group. This includes the members of the Supervisory Board, Executive Committee and Asset/Liability Management Committee of the Bank.

These transactions were camied out on commercial terms and conditions and at market rates, The following transactions were carmied out with
the management;

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009
Assels
Loans and advances (o customers 1,852 1,861 1,852 1,861
Other assels 5 7 5 7
Total 1,857 1,868 1,857 1,868
Llabilllles
Deposits from customers 6,186 3,435 6,196 3,435
Other liabilities 76 17 76 17
Total 6,272 3,452 6,272 3,452
income
Interest and commission income 124 144 124 144
Total Income 124 144 124 144
Expense
Interesi and other expenses 191 313 191 313
Total expanse 191 313 191 313
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38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES {(continued)
Transactions with subsidiaries
The Bank holds investments in subsidiaries with whom it entered into a number of banking transactions in the normal course of business. These

transactions were camied out on commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. The following transactions were camied out with
subsidiaries:

Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009
Assets
Due from banks 39,364 83,774
Loans and advances to customers 1,282,084 320,505
Other assets 4,041 28,679
Total 1,325,489 432,958
Liabilities
Deposits from banks 40,780 15,593
Deposits from customers 286,718 687,149
Other liabilities and provisions 20,755 1,453
Total 348,253 704,195
Income
Interest income 38,958 21,434
Commission income 13,228 18,539
QOlher income - 1,525
Total incoma 52,186 41,498
Expense
Interest expense 11,199 23,860
Commission expense 8 1
Other expenses 227,353 58,995
Total expense 238,560 82,866
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT

39.1 Introduction

Risks are managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits, approval authorities
{pouvoirs), separation of responsibilifies and other controls. The Bank is exposed to credit nisk, liquidity risk and market risk, as well as to
operational risk.

Consistency in risk management is ensured through an integrated and methodolegically coherent approach fo all risks, along with regular
monitoring that enables risk management fo proactively manage their cwn portfolios and, when necessary, lake fimely corective actions.

39.2 Risk management structure and responsibilities

Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board approves and reviews the Bank's risk profile and the Bank's strategy in respect of risk managemenl.

The Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board

The Risk Commillee of the Supervisory Board is responsible for approval of the implementation of the main lending and risk policies,
procedures and intemal rules, approval of the delegation of the credit authorities (pouvoirs), as well as approval of the implementation of the
Management Board's approvals for granting loans with a value exceeding the credit authorifies delegated.

Management Board

The Management Board is responsible for the implementation of the risk strategies approved by the Supervisory Board, the mainienance of a
proper risk exposure reporting, as well as the maintenance of the risk limits, including for crisis situation.

Risks Functional Line

Risk managemenl activities are consolidaled under the Risks Functional Line, which consists of five divisions: Retail Risk Management,
Corporate Risk Management, Risk Controlling, Antifraud, IT Security and Business Continuity Management.

Internal Audit
Risk Management processes throughout the Bank are audiled annually by the iniemal audit function, thal examines both the adequacy of the

procedures and the Bank’s compliance with the procedures. Intemal Audit discusses the results of all assessments with management, and
reports its findings and recommendations fo the Audit and Compliance Committee.

39.3 Risk Management activities

In order to manage the risks that could affect its activity and financial performance, the Bank undertakes the necessary steps to identify the risk
sources, to asses and monitor the Bank's exposures, to set up risk limils for different counterpariies such as countries, sovereigns, banks,
financial institutions affiliated to the banking groups, corporate cuslomers/groups of clients {including risk limits for banking groups of affiialed
customers), market risk limits, liquidity limits, elc.

The significant risks are identified and assessed for the whole Bank at all organizational levels, for all the Bank transactions and activities.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
39.3 Risk Management activities {continued)

For the identification and assessment of the significant risks, intemal factors are taken into account, such as the complexity of the organizational
structure, the types of activities, the staff quality and staff migration, as well as the extemal faciors such as economic environment, the
legislative changes, the competition in the banking sector and lechnological progress.

In order to have an appropriate management of the significant risks, the Bank uses:

+ a system of procedures for transactions authorization, which consisls of competences / autharity limits (pouvoirs) for granting loans and
other related credit products;

» a system for setting up risk limits in compliance with the Bank's global risk profile, capital adequacy, liquidity, loan portfolio quality etc;
» a system of reporting the risk exposure and the other issues / aspecls relaled (o risks;

¢ a system of procedures for unexpected situations/crisis regarding significant risks, including measures necessary to be underiaken by
the Bank;

« a system of procedures that prevents an inadequate information usags, in order to aveid the Bank's reputation damage, the disclosure
of secret and confidential information and the usage of information for the staffs personal benefits;

» staff recruitment and salaries criteria, which presume high standards in respect of qualification, expertise and inlegrity;
» staff training programs.

The Bank undertakes the necessary steps in order fo ensure and maintain an adequate information syslem for the identification, measurement,
monitoring and reporting of the significant risks, for the whole Bank and for each department or business unit.

The Bank sets up an appropriate separation of responsibilities for all the Bank's organizational levels in order to avoid the conflict of interest
in front office, risk management and back office activities. ’

394 Integration into the Erste Group standards

In 2010 BCR has continued to implement the necessary measures for its alignment to the standards of the Erste Group and the principles of the
Basel !l Agreement, based on projects unfolded in collaboration with Erste Group:

»  ICAAP implemented as per Erste Group standards i.e..
o  Tools for analysing, monitoring & forecasfing capital adequacy
o New risk management policies, covering Risk-bearing Capacily Calculation, Risk Materiality Assessment, Stress Testing,
credit, concentration and operational risks eic.
o Integration into the EGB data pool, centralized RWA calculation based on IRB
»  Implementation of new Basel il compliant rating tools for privale individuals and corporate clients, municipalities and SL {Specialized
Lending) and calcutation of risk parameters (PD, LGD, CCF),
+  Implementing and reporting the new standards for liquidity risk management: Survival Period Analysis, Traffic Light System, Relaiive
Cumulative Liquidity Gap, Balance Sheel Ratios and Funding Concentration Measures.

The implementation of these standards presupposed the consolidation of the management of corporate and retail credit risks, market risks,
operational risks, country and banking risks, as well as the assessment of collaterals and workout , aniifraud etc. under the Risk & Financial

Functional Line.

Under these terms, risk management specialists are clearly delimiled from an organizational point of view from the personnel with
responsibiliies in the business development field. This clear-cut defimitation from the Front Office area represents the fundamept for the
implementation of the group principle concemning the two votes necessary for the approval of exposures lowards the clients (1st vole is granted
by the Front Office personnel, whereas the 2nd vote is granfed by the risk management personnel); the pouvoirs system is implemented for

these purposes.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The main objectives of these risk management group standards are two; supporting business fines lo reach their projected business targets by
ensuring the taking of quick and efficient crediting decisions and protecting the Bank against banking risks using advanced risk management
methods and principles.

39.5 Crodit risks

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising from the failure of a debtor or trading counterparty (o fully honor its financial or conlractual
obligation to the Bank.

Credif risk is inherent in the following forms; fending facilities, contingent liabilities: commitment liabilities and financial markels fransactions.

Country risk is the risk that the Bank can suffer, in any given counlry, due to nationalizalion, expropriation of assets, govemmenl repudiation of
indebtedness etc. and settlement risk - is the risk thai the settlement or clearance of ransacions will fail

In respect of credit risk, risk limils are set up for different segments of customers: banks, counlries, sovereigns, financial institulions affiliated lo
banking groups, facloring companies, comporate clients/groups. The Bank set up approval competences (pouvoirs) for each type of
cuslomers/groups of customers (corporate, retail, banks elc.}, which is the maximum limit for the approval of loans and other credit type
products.

The Bank grants loans to the comporate customers that can generale appropriate cash-flows, with a good reputation in the business
environment, that have a proper credit rating and to the retail cuslomers which have stable incomes and are frustworthy as regards the
fuliilment of the contract obligations towards the Bank.

In the loans approval process the Bank is mainly interesled in the first credit repayment source, the customer’s capacity to generate cash-flows
(for corporate customers) and to gain stable incomes (for retail customers).

In order to asses the performances and financial stafus of its customers, the Bank uses scoring systems, rafings, methods of analyzing the
financial performances (SABINE for corporate and micros, KRIMI for retail, CARLA for banks and financial institutions affiialed to the banking

groups).

In order to avoid the concentration of credit risk on a small number of clients, the bank monitors the dispersion of credit risk towards client
categories, branches, geographical regions, aciivity sectors and banking producis.

3951,  Maximum credit exposure without taking into account any collateral or other credit enhancements

Group Bank
RON Thousand Noltes 2010 2009 2010 2009
Assats
Cash and balances wilh central bank (excluding cash on hand) 4,550,279 8,604,517 8,484,986 8,534,757
Dua from banks 1,771,738 1,892,966 1,455,735 1,451,062
Rewersa repurchase agreements - 15,687 - 15,687
Derhalive financial instruments 43,287 13,222 43,266 13,222
Financial assels held for lrading 966,944 401,351 966,944 401,351
Financial assets designated at fair value hrough profil or loss 41,963 165,537 41,063 165,537
Loans and advances to cuslomers 47,393,687 47,367,248 45,160,818 43,630,890
Financial investments — awailable-for-sale 3,925,371 3,063,235 4.963.533 3,8;2.%
Financial imvestments — held-lo-maturity 5,442,218 2,388,919 4,998,4 2,155,
O'iher assels 2,087,622 1,810,519 1,684,482 1,622,385
Total 70,223,109 65,723,201 67,800,209 61,808,717
Conlingenl liabililies 3,681,801 4,277,729 3,492,579 4,126,443
Commiglmenls 3,562,134 4,431,642 3,416,989 4,318,285
Total 7,233,935 8,709,371 6,909,568 8,444,728
Tolal credit sk exposure 71,457,044 74,432,572 74,700,777 70,253,445

1* net loans = loans — credit provisions
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)
39.5.2. Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk

The maximum credit exposure Lo a client as of 31 December 2010 was RON 843,160 thousand (2009: RON 807,747 thousand).

39.5.3. Risk concentration of the maximum credit exposure by geographical regions

Financial assets, before taking info account any collateral held or other credit enhancements are distributed by the following geographical
regions (*);

RON Thousand Group Bank
2010 2009 2010 2009
Europe 77,195,873 74,049,645 74,656,159 69,934,970
United Kingdom and Ireland 218,856 158,902 48,015 134,186
Natherands 21,485 29,077 153 29,073
North America 7.421 106,360 4,076 106,067
South America - - - -
Asla 12,926 65,100 891 25,661
Africa - 2,347 - 2,347
Australia and Oceania 483 21,141 483 21,141
TOTAL 77,457,044 74,432,572 74,709,777 70,253,445
where:

Europe: Austria, Croatia, Czech Rep., Denmark, Greece, Hungary, Moldova, Poland, Romania, Slovenia, Sweden
Switzerland, Spain, Portugal, Belgium, Norway, France, Germany, ltaly, Ukraine

North America; USA, Canada

Asia; Azerbaidjan, South Korea, Saudi Arabia, Turkey, Russian Federation, Kazakhslan, India
South America: Brasil, Chile

Alfrica: Morocco, Egypt, Tunisia

*) there are no trading activiies in 2010, only banking activities.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3954  Credit exposure by economic sectors

An industry analysis of the financial assets, before and after faking inic account collaterals held or other credit enhancements, is as follows:

Group
RON Thousand 2010 2009
Gross Net maximum Gross Net maximum
maximum exposure maximum exposure
exposurae* sxposure”
Private households 19,016,030 6,213,316 19,833,287 7,962,839
Banking and Insurance 11,204,986 10,629,913 17,840,409 17,200,583
Manufacturing 9,224,812 2,750,537 9,438,499 2,711,361
Construction 6,286,954 1,244,703 6,171,594 1,233,722
Public administration 17,711,334 12,600,708 6,509,133 1,887,702
Trade 4,595,588 858,174 5,074,550 872,287
Transport and communication 1,459,559 148,415 1,680,098 150,219
Agriculture and forestry 1,624,800 316,651 1,805,484 453,550
Other senice activilies 834,639 145,666 1,159,834 527,006
Health and social work 159,631 18,454 148,309 15,661
Real estate and other business activities 813,945 71,116 857,574 20,709
Energy and water supply 1,243,835 743,355 885,154 488,998
Hotels and restaurants 530,872 40,707 551,320 -
Mining 666,060 577,279 269,454 169,367
Olher 2,083,599 2,074,370 2,197,873 2,186,932
TOTAL 77,457,044 38,433,364 74,432,572 35,890,936
Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2009
Gross Net maximum Gross Net maximum
maximum exposure maximum exposure
exposure* exposure*
Private households 17,932,365 6,575,754 18,857,498 7.947 642
Banking and insurance 11,789,926 11,046,443 17,146,962 16,589,457
Manufacturing 8,656,523 2,567,990 8,924,708 2,450,862
Construction 5,877,738 1,164,977 5,764,710 1,106,577
Public administration 17,145,956 12,036,623 6,374,112 1,764,597
Trade 4,083,163 791,17 4,319,713 670,389
Agriculture and forestry 1,563,022 334,297 1,729,345 460,668
Transpori and communication 952,347 124,509 1,062,801 91,350
Other sendce actities 1,083,078 549,788 966,825 527,723
Heallh and social work 119,940 17,447 103,628 1,400
Real estate and olher business activities 1,743,874 123,117 821,986 20,872
Energy and water supply 1,200,482 717,950 831,533 453,454
Hotels and restaurants 457,384 42,944 462,375 -
Mining 558,292 481,852 98,350 28,309
Other 1,545,686 1,538,048 2,786,868 2,781,202
TOTAL 74,709,777 28,123,056 70,253,445 34,894,511

*Exposure including any contingent liabilities, undrawn credit and loans commitments, promissory notes and guarantees/liabiliies out of assets
pledged as collateral securily, less provisions.
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39, RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

38.54. Credit exposure by economic sectors (Confinued)

Collateral and other credit enhancements

Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceplability of fypes of collateral and valuation parameers.

The main types of collateral accepled by the Bank are as follows:
»  forcommercial lending: charges over real estate properties, inventory and trade receivables;
o forretail lending: mortgages over residential properties,
» forreal estate lending: mortgage on land and existing constructions and real movable collateral on shares or social parts {in case of
loans for the real estate projecis unrolled by the specialized companies within real estate projectsfespecial founded for the unrolling
for these projects);

The Bank monitors the market value of collateral and requests additional collateral in accordance with the undertying agreement.

3855  Credit quality per class of financial assets
The classification of the portfolio in order i assess the qualily is as follows:
- Low risk - Clients which have a debt service between 0 and 15 days and financial performance A (based on ratings)

Management attention — Clients which have a debt service between 0 — 15 days and financial performance B or a debl service
between 16 - 30 days and financial performance A

Sub-standard - Clients which have a debt service betwesn 0 - 15 days and financial performance C or D or E or a debt service
between 16 - 30 days and financial performance B or C or D or E or a debt service between 31-90 days and financial performance A or Bor C
orDorE

Non-performing loans (contaminaled exposure} - Clients which have a debt service over 90 days.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3955  Credit quality per class of financial assets (Continued)

Group 2010
Management  Sub- Non-
RON Thousand Low Risk attention  standard performing Total
Due from banks 916,469 818,535 31,049 5685 1,771,738
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 23,963 18,000 - - 41,963
Trading Assets
Treasury bills 956,773 - - - 956,773
Listed bonds 9,676 495 - - 10,171
Unlisted bonds - - - - -
966,449 495 - - 966,944
Loans and advances to customers'
Corporate lending 11,839,927 11,648,469 7,063,344 4,456,972 35,008,712
Small business lending (Micros) 403,541 802,260 1,016,536 1,245,643 3,467,980
Consumer lending 6,633,664 833,830 876,504 1,457619 9,801,617
Residential mortgages 7,799,817 665,075 711,366 1,878,285 11,064,543
Other 201,463 53 47,844 20 249,380
26,878,412 13,949,687 9,715,594 9,038,539 59,582,232
Financial investments - available for sale
Treasury bills 2,959,962 - - 2,959,962
Listed equities 920,552 17,271 3,401 941,224
NorHisted investments - 24185 - - 24185
3,860,514 41,456 3,401 - 3,925,371
Financial investments - held to maturity
Treasury bills 6,769 - 6,769
Listed debt secunties 5,422,966 - - 5,422,986
Unlisted bonds 12,463 - - 12,463
5,442,218 - 5,442,218
Total 38,108,025 14,828,473 9,750,044 0,044,224 71,730,466

* | oans and advances to customers and undrawn credit and loans commitments, promissory noles and guaranteesfliabiliies out of assets

pledged as collateral securily.
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39, RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

39.55.  Credit quality per class of financial assets (Continued)

Group 2009
Non- Total
RON Thousand Low Risk Managemem Sub-standard perfonmng
attention
Due from banks 1,779,211 22,389 48,201 43,145 1,892,966
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 104,840 60,607 . . 165,537
Trading Assets
Treasury bills 185,854 - . - 185,854
Lisled bonds 3,491 - - - 3491
Unlisted bonds 212,006 - - - 212,006
401,351 - - - 401,351
Loans and advances to customers*
Corporale lending 14,279,583 11,429,210 6,654,371 2,262,860 34,326,024
Small business lending (Micros) 221,693 1325413 1130942 875739 3,563,787
Cansumer lending 8,747,430 552,037 427,625 1,740,250 11,467,342
Residential morigages 1,762,538 539,510 512544 1,483,289 10,317,881
Other 200,622 221 3775 204,624

31,231,868 13,546,397 8720257 6,362,138 59,869,658

Financial investments — available for sale

Treasury bills 1,463,949 . - - 1,463,949
Listed equiiies 19,029 11,707 . - 30,736
NorHlisted invesiments 1,541,590 24,279 2681 - 1,568,550

3,024,568 35,966 2,681 . 3,063,235

Financial investments - held to maturity

Treasury bills 283,598 - - - 283,998
Listed debl securities - 97 - - 97
Unlisted bonds 2,092,376 12,448 - - 2,104,824

2,376,374 12,545 . - 2,388,919

Total 38,918,230 13,678,014 8780439 6405283 7,781,666

* Loans and advances to customers and undrawn credil and loans commitments, promissory noles and guaraneesfiabiliies out of assets pledged as collateral
security.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

39.55. Credit quality per class of financial assets (continued)

The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Bank using intemal credit ratings. The table below shows the credit quality by class of

assels;
Bank 2010
Management  Sub- Non-
RON Thousand Low Risk aftention standard performing Total
Due from banks 638,345 817,390 - - 1,455,735
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 23,963 18,000 - - 41,963
Trading Assets
Treasury bills 956,773 - - - 956,773
Lisled bonds 9,676 495 - - 10,171
Unlisled bonds - - - - -
966,449 495 - - 966,944
Loans and advances to customers*
Comporale lending 11,430,329 12,050,278 6,548,549 3,760,294 33,789,450
Small business lending (SME and micros) 101,222 723,545 665,689 B16,486 2,306,942
Consumer lending 6,542,195 B26,605 869,349 1,327,039 9,565,188
Residenlial mertgages 7,784,616 657,694 710,802 614,308 9,767,420
Other 197,904 - - - 197,904
26,056,266 14,258,122 8,794,389 6,518,127 55,626,904
Financial investments available for sale
Treasury bills 2,866,408 - - - 2,866,408
Listed equities 913,107 17,269 - - 930,376
NorHisled investments 756,868 369,923 - - 1186811
4,576,403 387,192 - - 4,963,595
Financial investments held to maturity
Treasury bills - - - - -
Listed debl securilies 4,998,420 - - - 4,908,420
NorHisled debt securilies - - - - -
4,998,420 - - - 4,998,420
Total 37,259,846 15,481,199 6,794,389 6,518,127 68,053,561

* Loans and advances to customers and undrawn credit and loans commifments, promissory notes and guaranteesfiabilities out of assets

pledged as collateral security.
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39, RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

3955  Credit quality per class of financial assets (Continued)

Bank 2009
RON Thousand Management por- Total
Low Risk ! Substandard  performing
attention
Due from banks 1,453,062 - - 1,453,062
Financlal assets designated at fair value through profit
orloss 104,841 60,696 . . 165,537
Trading Assets
Treasury hills 185,854 - 185,854
Listed bonds 3,491 - 3,491
Unlisied bonds 212,006 - 212,006
401,351 - - - 404,351
Loans and advances to customers*
Carporale lending 12,407,912 10,732,562 6,320,435 1,801,837 31,262,746
Small business lending (SME and micros} 154,490 1,261,221 833,686 694,879 2,944,276
Consumer fending 8,573,380 531,826 418,365 1,644,709 11,168,280
Residential mortgages 7,855,802 535,739 512,656 493,457 9,397,654
Other 197,766 3,759 20,525
29,180,350 13,061,348 8,088,901 4,634,882 54,974,481
Financial investments available for sale
Treasury bills 1,455,476 - - 1455476
Lisled equities 19,029 4316 - . 23845
Nor-listed investments 1,541,590 792,276 2,681 - 2,336,547
3,016,005 797,002 2,681 . 3,815,868
Financial investments held to maturity
Treasury bills 283,99 - 283,998
Listed debt secunties - - - -
NorHlisted debi securities 1,871,960 - - - 1,871,960
2,155,958 . . 2,155,958
Total 36,320,857 13,919,436 8,001,562 4,634,882 62,066,257

* Loans and advances to cuslomers and undrawn credit and loans commitmenis, promissory noles and guarantees/liabiliies out of assets

pledged as collateral security.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

39.56.  Loan Portfolio on time bands
The exposure from loans, RON and foreign currency, on maturity bands, RON equivalent, as at 31 December 2010
Bank
RON Thousand TOTAL Exposure contaminated with the debl service
NPL*!
NPL{more  Total
LOANS 1- 30 days 31- 90 days than 80 days)  loans
% In Tolal % In Total
Amount % Amount lsans Amounl Ioans Amount %
|. Corporate cllents,
- GLG* 4,039,460 146 - 2,498 151,406 ki)
-Lct 6,527,505 235 779,076 353,483 629,047 96
- Public Seclor 217,215 0.8 - - - -
- SME* 8,095,706 292 456,556 667,969 2,136,329 264
- Municipalities 4,364,987 187 14,969 3,218 14,604 03
- Real estale 2,870,850 10.3 104,495 - 550,039 19.2
- ALM* 1,628,145 59 - - - -
|.Total Corporate loans, 27,744,868 100.0 1,355,096 4.9 1,027,168 37 3,481,425 12.5
1I. Refall cllents
- Individuals 18,666,298 89.5 1,570,682 813,293 1,940,962 104
- Micro 2,196,601 10.5 147,691 134,603 815,739 I
Il.Total Retall loans, 20,862,899 1000 1,718,373 8.2 947,896 45 2,756,701 13.2
Total loans {I+1) 48,607,767 100.0 3,073,469 6.3 1,975,064 4.1 6,238,126 12.8

The exposure from loans, RON and foreign cumency, on maturity bands, RON equivalent, as at 31 December 2009:

Bank
RON Thousand TOTAL Exposure contaminated with the debt service
NPL* /
NPL*{more  Total
LOANS 1-30 days 31-90 days than 90 days)  loans
%hin %in
Total Total
Amount %  Amount  loans Amount  loans Amount %
I. Corporate clients
GLC* 3461559 145 . - 78,245 23
Lc* 6426183 268 286,942 245437 155,119 3
SME* 8460984 353 519438 843,397 1,258,466 149
Municipalities 3496200 146 16,074 14,300 2,769 0.1
Real esiate financing 2,102,003 88 21,843 40318 242,325 1.5
Il Retail loans 23048019 100 844297 35 1,143452 48 1,736,924 1.3
Individuals 19841604 879 1,659,566 868,212 2,143,006 10.8
Micro 2723244 124 219626 130,188 687,822 256
22565048 100 1.879,192 8.3 998,400 44 2,830,828 12.5
Total loans {+11) 46,514,067 100 2,723489 59 2,141,852 4.8 4,567,752 9.8

") GLC - Group Large Corporate cfients;  LC — Large Corporale cliens; SME - Small and Medium Enterprises; NPL — Non-performing loans.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3057  Impairment assessment

The main considerations for the loan impaimment assessment include whether any payments of principal or interest are overdue by more than
90 days or there are any known difficuliies in the cash flows of counterparties, credit rmfing downgrades, or infringement of the original terms of
the contract. The Bank addresses impairment assessment in two areas: individually assessed allowances and collectively assessed
allowances.

Individually assessed allowances

The Bank defermines the allowances appropriale for each individually significant loan or advance cn an individual basis. ltems considered when
determining allowance amounts include the sustainability of the counterparty’s business plan, ts ability to improve performance once a financial
difficulty has arisen, projected receipts and the expected dividend payout should bankruplcy ensue, the availability of other financial support and
the realisable value of collaleral, and the timing of the expected cash flows. The impaimment losses are evalualed at each reporting date, unless
unforeseen circumstances require more careful attention.

Collectively assessed aflowances

Allowances are assessed collectively for losses on loans and advances that are not individually significant (including credit cards, residential
morlgages and unsecured consumer lending} and for individually significant loans and advances where there is not yet objective evidence of
individual impairment, Allowances are evaluated on each reporfing date with each portfolio receiving a separate review.

The collective assessment takes account of impairment ihat is likely to be present in the portfolio even though there is not yet objeclive
evidence of the impairment in an individual assessment. Impaiment losses are estimated by taking infc consideration of the following
information: historical losses on the portfolio, current economic conditions, the approximale delay between the time a loss is likely lo have been
incurred and the time it will be identified as requiring an individually assessed impairment allowance, and expected receipts and recoveries once
impaired. Local management is responsible for deciding the length of this period which can extend for as long as one year. The impaimment
allowance is then reviewed by credit management io ensure alignment with the Bank’s overall poficy.

Financial guarantees and letters of credit are assessed and provision made in a similar manner as for loans.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)
39.6. Liquidity risk

39.61 Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk arises from the potential inability to meet all payments obligations when they come due. The Bank manages the liquidity risk with
the purpose of maintaining an adequate liquidity, 5o as to cover at all imes its financial commitments on all time bands, as well as lo maximize
the net interest income.

The Bank pays careful altention to liquidity risk management by sefting fundamental objectives such as ensuring the necessary funds to cover,
at any time, all financial obligations assumed by the Bank, and setting an appropriate balance sheei structure, for minimizing any potentially
negative effects. In this respect, the Bank concentrales its efforts on identifying the liquidity risk sources, evalualing its risk exposures and
sefting appropriate limits to miigate the possible consequences of liquidity risk.

The Bank assesses its liquidity by:
»  Analyzing the structure of assets, in terms of their liquidity and marketability;
o Analyzing liabilities {in terms of their volatility) and off-balance sheet elements {implying potential insfouts of funds);
«  Analyzing main currencies liquidity, both individually and aggregated.

In order to evafuate and conrol the liquidity risk of the Bank's portfolio, the Bank employs the following instruments:
«  Asset and Liability Management (ALM), focused on suitably determining the appropriate balance sheel structure, by correlating
resources and placements in terms of their structure and maturity;
¢  Computing and monitoring the liquidity ralios by maturity ranges, based on the future cash-flows analysis, in terms of on- and off-
balance sheet assets and liabilities;
«  Establishing minimum limits for the liquidity ratios;
s GAP analysis (aggregated and separated, for RON and foreign cumrencies);
»  Monthly compulation of certain liquidity ratios.
For every financial year the Bank prepares:
« A strategy for managing liquidity under normal circumslances encompassing the main objectives of the Bank, with the purpose to
maintain an adequate portfolio liquidity, by re-evalualing it in line with the business environment requirements;
¢ A contingency funding plan that is a strategy for managing liquidity in crisis situations, comprising the measures required to
successiully overcome a potential crisis,

The table below presents the proper evolution of the ratio of liquid assets to customers (banking and non-banking customers) liabilities:

2010 2009

(%} (%)

December 3360 30.02
Average 30.88 2958
Max KLAE! 3208
Min 257 2174
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

39.6.2 Liquidity analysis of assets and liabilities

The tables below show an analysis of assets and liabilities analyzed according fo when they are expected lo be recovered or seifled.

GROUP 2040

losthand  Lessthand Sublotalless 1to5years OverSyears Subtotal over 12
RON Thousand days months 3 to 12 months than 12 months menths Total
ASSETS
Cash and bafances with central banks 9,545,385 9,545,395 - - 9,545,305
Due from banks 180035 (13202 60 1603973 54042 48,73 100785 178
Derfalive financial insluments - - 117 147 25,709 16,401 2410 43287
Financial assets held for trading 966,944 966,944 - - 966,44
Financil assets designaled a1 fair value
through prot or loss 1,963 41,963 - - 41963
Loans and advances fo cuslomers, nel 3488267 43607 BO8I0NM 16515418 1344876 47420543 478269 47293687
Financial investments - swailable-for-sale THE 220307 285897 701,465 264,009 5474 390530
Financial imvesimenls - heldHo-maturity 6,902 204,508 MMM 35650 1574960 5140508 5442218
Property and equipment - . 16008 160998 160998
Goodwill and oher intangible assels . - 424,30 424,30 42430
Guren! tax asseds 102,961 182,961 . 192,961
Defened lax assels : - . 53,612 53612 53.612
Other assels 1,082,131 7528 1767416 83,893 216,313 0006 208162
Assels held kr sale 248 - 242 - - 249
TOTAL ASSETS W36 605k 1220041 4011,08 8138 2,70,81 o202 732485
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Due {0 banks 8781 34M22 2804005 6305008 13067919 2450608 15518524 2182350
Repurchase agreements 1856 . 1886 - . - 1,586
Dermalie nancil instuments - - 1,507 1507 192915 (136,405) 1786870 178837
Due 1o custamers TOTB555 10264766 60609613  RA1293 276288 265,016 5414002 37.8069%
Deb issued and other borowed funds 192,046 16,7714 208,820 172,704 25,653 42,357 B38177
Current {ax liabiilies - - - NI% N.1% 24,16
Defered tax liabilities . - - 493,405 458,405 438,405
{(lher liabiklies 1409202 18229 161743 69,946 1,138 7084 1688515
Provisions 253,351 - - 263,951 - - - 253,951
Subordinated Lizbiities . . . - 1,967,317 19137 1967307
TOTAL LIABILITIES TANT 43012 900428 40801537 19680 7075 26,707,285 66,508,822
Het 705,100 (17201576 A20203 (6790254 (MTA47} 14011064 1353047 7,103,663
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

39.6.2 Liquidify analysis of assets and liabilities (continued)

GROUP 2009

Lessthan3  Llessthan3  3toi2 less than 12 1t05 Over5 Over12
RON Thousand days months months months years years months Total
Assefs
Cash and balances with central
banks 9,896,521 - - 9,896,521 - - - 5,896,521
Due from banks 370,622 1,403,721 46,760 1,821,103 11,020 60,843 71,863 1,892 966
Financial assets held lor trading 251,898 251,898 145,962 3491 149,453 401,351
Reverse repurchase
agreements 15,687 15,687 - - 15,687
Derivative financial instruments 13,222 13222 - - 13222
Financial assets designated al
fair value through profit or loss - - 67,749 97,788 165,537 165,537
Loans and advances to
customers 2,733,445 1,045141 4,857,955 9,536,541 8,549,953 29,280,754  37.830,707 47367248
Financial investments -
available-for- sale . 204131 1635834 1,839,965 944 408 278,862 1,223,270 3,063,235
Financial investmenis - held-to-
malurity 19,157 287918 307,075 1,791,132 290,712 2,081,844 2,388,919
Property and equipmenl . - 1,726600  1,726600 1,726,600
Inianglble assets . - - 389,199 389,199 386,199
Currenl lax assels - - - - 155,631 185,631 155,631
Defemed tax assets - - - - - 50,683 50,683 50,683
Other assets 13922 731,332 1,056,007 1,801,261 8,056 1,202 9,258 1,810,519
Assets held for sale and
discontinued operations 65,457 65,457 i . . 65,457
Total assets 13,079,967 4332391 8,136,372 25,548,130 11,518,280 32335765 43854,045 69402775
Liabilities
Due to banks 1,583,101 1,627947 2115625 5,296,673 12,537,918 3288865 15826783  21,123.456
Derivative financial instruments - 1,848,236 - 1,848,236 - - - 1,848,236
Due lo customers 7,901,889 23643258 3,703,121 35,248,268 152,669 227172 370841 35,628,100
Debt issued and olher
borowed funds - 318,878 76,336 305,214 69,498 70,000 130,498 534712
Trading liabiliies - - - - . - -
Current tax liabilifes 1,835 1,835 - - - 1,835
Deferred tax liabiliies - - - - . 363,001 363,001 363,001
Other liabilities 42 1,086,797 17,200 1,074,039 126,502 . 126,592 1,200,631
Provisions 195,296 - - 195,296 - - - 195,296
Subordinated liabilites - - - - - 1,906,112 1,806,112 1,906,112
Tofal liabilities 9650328 28496951 5912282 44,059,561 12,886,677 5855450 18,741,827 62,801,388
Net 3429639  (24,164,560) 2,224,090 {18,510,831) {1,368,397) 26480615 25112218 6,601,387
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

39.6.2 Liquidity analysis of assets and liabilities (continued)

Bank 2010

lesthan3 Lesthan3  3ipi2 Sublolal less Subtotal over 12
RON Theusand days months manths than 12 months 112 §years  OverSyears  months Total
ASSETS
Cash and balances with central banks 9468523 . 9,468,523 - - 9.468,523
Duie from banks 924,048 439,688 141373 B 16,208 498 14587%
Dernathe financial instruments . . 115 115 25109 16.401 2,10 43,266
Finangial assets held for trading - 966,944 966,544 - - 966,944
Financial assels designaled a1 fair walue
thmugh profi of loss - 4,963 41,93 . - 41,963
Loans and adances to customers, el JMTSE6 419 BSTME 15T 1215104 16600381 20425495 45160818
Financial imvestments - available-for-sale - 84580 2181819 2866408 0108 1318 2097087 496358
Financial imvestments - heldHo-matiuity - WA 34350 1960269 470618 49840
Property and equipment . . - 751,276 e 751278
Goodwill and olher intangibli assets - . - 20,638 8 2063
Current lax assels - 189,527 189,527 . 189,827
Other assets . 790,612 0440 1440061 46211 195,210 PR Y AR R )
TOTAL ASSETS UL 7850 O a9z Bl Bear o85S SN
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Due {o banks B8 1800703 175A4 33T 130937 24BGM4 16HTEM 18931
Repurchase agresments - 1886 - 1,886 - - . 1086
Derielive financial instruments . - 1,507 1507 19281 (136105) 1786870 1768377
Due lo cuslomers 000 18991807 59887 MME0 27 265146 539057  37.287,146
Debt issued and other borowed funds . 192,046 16,714 208,820 172,704 256,653 Ly TR AV
Cugrent tax fiabiies . . . - . - :
Oeferred Lax fiabities . . - - 465,90 #500 46590
Other fiabillies - 13 08405 1462604 f4.1%4 1,044 65178 1547412
Provisions 2641 . . 2641 - - 4N
Subortinated Liabilities - - . - S B TR 198737 1%737
TOTAL LIABILITIES THANE 205 TAM60 A9  fTOB081  THSIM 2661280 6282554
Net GAS6,080  (1495441T)  A000H  (aTeT3)  (L266TT)  1MADIBM2 M.BB6865  TH96H
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

39.6.2 Liquidity analysis of assets and liabilities {continued)

Bank 2009

Lessthan3  Lessthan3  3to12 lessthan 12 1ta5 Over Over 12
RON Thousand days monlhs months months years years months Tolal
Assels
Cash and balances with
cenfral banks 9,819,190 - - 9,619,190 - - - 9,819,190
Due from banks 140,301 1,180,326 46,688 1,377,315 12172 63575 15,747 1,453,062
Financial assels held for
trading - 251,898 251,898 145862 3491 149,453 401,351
Reverse repurchase
agreemants 15,687 - 15,687 - - - 15,687
Derivative financial
instruments 13,222 - 13,222 - - - 13,222
Financial assets designaled
al fair value through profit or
loss - - 67,749 97,788 165,537 165,537
Loans and advances (o
cusiomers 1,854,486 1,809,565 4,288,324 7,952,375 7110909 28567606 35678515 43630890
Financial investments —
available-for- sale - 204131 1,627,361 1,831,492 944408 1,030,968 1,984,376 3,615,868
Financial invesiments — held-
{o- maturity - 19,037 264,961 283,998 1,593804 278,156 1,871,960 2,155,958
Property and equipment . - - 998729 998,729 998,729
Intangible assels - - - 285539 285,539 285,539
Curment tax assets - - - - 149,168 149,168 149,168
Other assels 3,790 1,589,564 29,031 1,622,385 - - 1,622,385
Assets held for sale and
discontinued operations 291 - 291 paijl
Total 2ssets 11,818,058 4,841,532 6,508,263 23,167.853 9875004 31484020 41359,024 64,526,877
Liabilifies
Due to banks 180,655 3,333,353 647,102 4,161,110 12182706 74,858 12,257,563 16,418,673
Derivalive financial
instruments 1,848,240 - - 1,848,240 - - - 1,848,240
Due to customers 7,164,014 23659500 4,215,332 35,638,346 134,232 51824 186,056 35,824,902
Debt issued and other
bormowed funds 318,878 76,336 395,214 60,498 70,000 139,498 534,712
Trading liabilities - - - - - - -
Current tax abliies - - - - - - - -
Deferred lax liabiliies - - - - 329,504 329,504 320,504
Other liabililies - 985437 11,398 906,835 126,092 - 126,592 1,123,427
Provisions 186,446 - - 186,446 - - 186,446
Subordinated liabiliies - - - - 1,906,112 1,906,112 1,906,112
Total liabilities 9,979,355 28297168 4,950,168 43226601 12,513,007  2432,298 14945325 58,172,016
Net 1,838,703  (23455636) 1,556,095  {20,058,838) (2,638,023) 28,051,722  26413,699 6,354,661
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39, RISK MANAGEMENT (confinued)
39.6.3 Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities

The tables below summarize the maturily profile of the financial liabilities at 31 December 2010 and at 31 December 2009 based on contractual
undiscounted repayment obligations. Repayments which are subject to nolice are freated as if nofice were given immediately. However, the
Group and the Bank expect that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date the Group or the Bank could be required to
pay and the tables do not reflect the expected cash-flows indicated by the Group’s and the Bank's deposit refention history.

GROUP 2010
Subtotal less Subtotal
Lessthan3 Lessthan 3 than 12 over 12
RON Thousand days months Jto12months months  1toSyears OverSyearsmonths  Tofal
Due lo banks 90,211 3,452,071 2971802 6514174 16823577 3624425 20448002 26962176
Derivative financial instrumenls . 1,507 1507 192975  (136,105) 1,786,870 1,788,377
Due (o customers 7085902 19,362,795 6,205,546 32734243 3160258 3300695 6469953 39,204,196
Debt issued and olher bomowed funds - 192,856 17,128 098 482513 704102 1156615 1,366,599
Cument (ax liabililies . - - - - ARy 21,1% H,12%
Deferred tax liabilities - - - - 408405 490405 458405
(ther liabililies - 1499202 18220 1,617,431 69,947 1137 71,084 1,688,515
Provisions 253,951 - - 5% - - - 25388
Subordinaled liahililies - - - - - 336E69 3346660 3,346,660
Total undiscounted financlal liabilities 7,440,064 2452694 9,364,302 41,331,200 22438270 11,361,054 33,790,324  75130.614
Group 2009
Subtotal Subtotal
Lessthan Lessthan  3to12 less than o3 Over 5 over 12
RON Thousand 3 days dmonths months  12months  years years months Total
Due 1o banks 1,558,903 1,845,772 2231450 5437425 15832722 4720316 20,562,038 25999163
Derivative financial instruments - 1,848236 - 1,848,236 - - - 1,048,236
Due lo customers 7934833 23889730 3896139 35,720,708 190,865 321,900 512765 36233473
Debt issued and other borrowed funds - 321,248 79,173 400,421 96,728 137,529 234,257 634,678
Current tax liabiliies - 1,835 - 1,835 - - - 1,835
Deletred lax liabilties . - - - - 363001 363,001 363,001
Other liabilities 42 1,056,797 17,199 1,074,038 126,593 - 126,593 1,200,631
Provisions 195,206 - - 195,296 - - - 195,296
Subordinated liabifities - 66,822 200,466 267,288 1,089,152 2440688 3509840 3777128
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 9,600,080 28830440 6424427 44944347 17,316,060 7992434 25308484 70,253,441

88



BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated and Bank

for the year ended 31 December 2010

39. RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

39.6.3 Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities (continued)

Bank 2010
Subtotal less Subtotal
Lessthan3 Lessthand than 12 over 12
RON Thousand days months 3to 12 months  months 1to§years OverSyearsmonths  Tolal
Due to banks 90,379 1,100,957 1669451 3469767 16855012 3631198 20486210 23,955977
Derivative financial insliuments . - 1,507 1507 1922975 (136105) 1,786,670  1,788.377
Dug (o cuslomers 6,938,167 19,107,963 6172251 0218401 3435907 128093 6416843 38635244
Deb issued and other bomowed funds 192,656 17,128 20094 49568 T4 1950592 1,360,976
Cumrent {ax liabilities - . - - . - -
Deferred tax liabililies - - - - 4650900 465090 465,590
(Oiher liabilities 1,374,289 108404 1,462,693 64,134 1,045 65,179 1,541,872
Proisions 22641 - 226471 - - 226471
Subordinated liabilties - - - - JM66T0 3 MBET0 3,346,670
Total undiscounted financial liabiliies 1,255,037 22,385,045 7968741 37608823 22427,506 11,294,158 3318754 T1.327.5M7
Bank 2009
Subtotal

Less less than Subtotal

than 3 Lessthan  3f012 12 105 Over 5 over 12
RON Thousand days dmonths  months months years years months Total
Due to banks 181,446 3,369,852 682529 4233827 15384163 107,644 15491807 19,725634
Derivalive finandal instrumenls 1,848,240 . - 1,848,240 - - - 1,848,240
Due o customers 7,764,881 23906141 4435048 36,106,070 167,816 73,433 241,249 36,347,319
Debl issued and olher borrowed funds - 321,248 79,173 400,421 93,439 85,405 178,844 579,265
Current tax liabilities - - - - . - -
Deferred tax liabiliies - - - - - 320,504 329,504 329,504
Other liabilifies - 985,437 11,397 936,834 126,593 - 126593 1,123427
Provisions 186,446 - 186,446 - - 186,446
Subordinaled liabiliies 66,822 200,466 267288 1089152 2440688 3509840 3777128
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 2000 9,981,013 28,649,500 5A408,613 44,039,126 16,841,163 3,036,674 19877837 63,916,963
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

39.6.4 Analysis of contingent liabilities and commitments by remaining contractual maturities

The lables below show the contractual expiry by maturity of the conlingent liabiliies and commitments.

Group 2010
Subtotal less Subtotal
Less than 3 3to 12 than 12 105 Qver § over 12

RON Thousand months months months years years months Total
Contingent liabilities 558,336 799,559 1,358,895 1,675,539 647,367 2,322,906 3,681,801
Commitments 428,816 764,023 1,192,839 1,436,755 022540 2350205 3.552.134
Total 988,152 1,563,582 2,551,734 3,112,204 1,560,907 4,602,201 7,233,935
Group 2009

Subtotal less Subtotal
Less than 3 ito12 than 12 1to5 Over 5 over 12

RON Thousand months months months years years months Total

Contingent liabilies 036,859 496,410 1,433,309 1,691,082 1,153,338 2,844,420 42177129

Commiiments 1,942 876 485,955 2,428,831 695,234 1,307,577 2,002,811 4,431,642

Total 2,879,775 982,365 3,862,140 2,386,316 2,460,915 4,847,231 8,709,371
BANK 2010

Subtotal less Subtotal
Less than 3 3to12 than 12 ito5 Ovar 5 over 12

RON Thousand months months months years years months Total
Contingent liabililies 530,590 758,467 1,289,057 1,589,425 614,097 2,203,522 3,492,579
Commitmenls 412.6507 734,963 1,147,470 1,382,068 887,451 2,289,519 3,416,989
Total 943,097 1,493,430 2,436,527 2,971,493 1,501,548 4,473,041 6,909,568
Bank 2009

Subtotal Subtotal
Less than 3 3t012  lessthan12 ito5 Over 5 over12

RON Thousand months months months years years months Total

Contingent liabilities 803,765 478,854 1,382,619 1631215 1,112,549 2743824 4,126,443

Commitmenis 1,883,179 473,525 2,366,704 677,451 1,274,130 1,951,581 4,318,285
Total 2,795,944 952,379 3,749,323 2308,726 2,386,679 4,695,405 8,444,728
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39, RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
39.7  Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that could arise from adverse changes in the market prices and rates, equity prices, foreign exchange rates and
commodily prices, the comelations between them and their levels of volatility.

In terms of market risk, BCR. focuses on:

+  selting an appropriate structure of fts assets and liabilities, enabling it to avoid significant negative impact on the Bank's activity and
financial performance, should the interest rates, foreign exchange rates and market prices change;

+  identifying the causes behind the market risk, assessing its exposure to such risks and taking necessary steps fo mitigate them.

The evolution of the foreign cumrency ("FX") positions, as percentage of own funds, computed according lo the regulations issued by the
National Bank of Romania were:

Exposure on cumencies 2010 2009
% of own funds % of own funds
EUR Average 0.83% 1.34%
Maximum 3.03% 4771%
usD Average 0.07% 0.14%
Maximum 0.18% 1.87%
Average 1.01% 1.54%
Tota Maxi n?u m 3.04% 4.87%

In 2010, BCR maintained low toial FX positions. Beginning with October 2009 the FX activity of BCR was moved to Vienna. However, some
small limits on FX open positions were maintained for 2010 for exceptional situations ( late bookings, emors etc}..

As a consequence, the value at risk ("VaR") of the total FX position was reduced accordingly for 2010, as presented below:

1 day, 99%, RON VaR 2010 2000
The VaR of the tolal FX posiion ~ Average 50,239 696,075
Maximum 205,156 2,657,832

Currently BCR computes the VaR using the Historical simulation method. The parameters of the VaR computation are: holding period = 1 day,
confidence level = 9%, lambda = 1, length of risk factors time series = 730 days. This is the standard across Erste Group.

Below one can see the structure of the intemal market risk limits as of December 31, 2009and December 31%, 2010;

»  Limits for the Trading Book
+ Limits on the FX position (for three categories: i) EUR and USD, ii) other currencies except EUR and USD, i) Total FX position):
o Exposure (Dela)
o 1Day, 99% - VaR limit;

o Limits of Fixed Income Trading Book:
o Present value of a basis point {"PVBP") and
o 1Day, 99%-VaR

+  Limits on common stock position:
o Exposure (defta) limits (for three caiegories: i) Erste, ii) Other, iii) Total)
o 1Day, 99%-VaR
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
38.7 Market Risk {continued)
»  Limits for the Banking Book
»  Limits for money market (“MM"}:
o  PVBP limils for MM (for RON, EUR, USD, other currencies and total):
o 1Day, 99% - VaR limit

¢ Limits for fixed income
o  PVBPlimis for FI BB - AFS and HTM (for RON, EUR, USD, other currencies and tofaf) :

o 1Day,99%-VaR
During 2010 there were no market risk limii breaches.

The Bank developed specific norms for transactions with financial derivatives, used both as products offered to customers for risk mitigation and
for hedging against the market risk exposure of its own portfolio,

In 2008, the market risk limits system were further improved by adding a structure of monthly and yearly Stop Loss ("S/L7) limits for the TB
achivities. The SiL limits were observed.

In 2010, the market risk limits system was improved by establishing limits for the market risk in the banking book.

As a member of the Erste Holding, BCR was included beginning with Ociober 2009 in the program of cenfralizing the frading activity at the
Holding level.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
39.7 Market Risk (continued)

39.7.1. Curmency risk

Group 2010
RON Thousand

Assals

Cash and balances wilh cenlral banks
Due from banks

Financial assels held for lrading
Reverse repurchase agreements
Denalive financial instruments
Financial assels designated al fir value through profil
of loss

Loans and advances Lo cuslomers
Financial imestments - awailable-for-sale
Financial inveslments - heldHo-matudly
Properly and equipment

Intangible assels

Current tax assels

Deferred lax assels

Olher assels

Assels Held For Sale

Total assets

Liabllllles

Due lo banks

Repurchase agreements
Derivalive financial instruments
Due lo cuslomers

Debl issued and other bomowed funds
Current lax liabilities

Deferred lax liabilities

Other liabifities

Provisions

Subordinated Liabililies

Tofal llabllifies

Net

RON EUR USD Other Total
4,807,056 4,624 462 54,53 55,41 9,545,395
735,366 607,141 25283 173,48 1,771,738
966,944 . - . 966,044
30,670 12474 145 13,287
41,963 - - 41,963
1735134 28,704,031 WM ATESI 47,390,687
2626322 1,245 061 3401 50,587 3,925,371
4,598,791 843,204 - 133 5,442,218
1,664,863 % 9,007 1,693,938
4416 17 87 424320
190,506 2,365 . 192,961
46,587 7025 . - 53,612
143,952 580,906 41,084 33,680 2,087,622
BAR : - - 2425
U529 36,626,811 1200749 730,636 73,812,485
12,387.121 9,277,197 157,547 5667 21823592
. 1,886 - . 1,486
1,742,573 45,5% 25 . 1,788,377
HIGAI4 11203494 1465739 192799 31.626.9%
35,550 252,518 . - 638,177
2,63 - % 2,1%
498,405 . . - 498,405
978,680 803,123 65,747 40,965 1,688,515
93,904 138,709 2,206 132 253,951
1,351,073 516,244 - : 1,967,317
RINBMT 218710 1710504 285650 66,500,822
(TA08660) 14,488,401 (420,755 444877 7,403,663
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
39.7 Market Risk (continued)

39.71. Currency risk (continued

Group 2009
RON Thousand RON EUR uso Other Total
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 3,984,275 5,827,841 40,284 44121 9,895,521
Due from banks 921,415 717,929 120,180 133,442 1,892,966
Financial assels held for rading 401,351 - - - 401,351
Reverse repurchase agreements 15,687 - - - 15,687
Derivalive financial instruments 12,839 383 - - 13,222
Financial assets designaled at fair value 165,537 - - - 165,537
through profit or loss
Loans and advances lo customers 17,678,311 28,278,450 1,324,065 86,402 47,367,248
Financial investments - available-for-safe 1,812,376 1,250,568 - 291 3,063,235
Financial invesimenis - held-to-maturity 2,322,947 - - 65,972 2,388,519
Property and equipment 1,721,633 i - 4,836 1,726,600
Iniangible assels 388,301 5 - 847 389,19
Cument lax assels 155,631 155,631
Deferred lax assets 43,791 6,892 - - 50,683
Ofther assels 1,290,708 431,444 55,021 3346 1,810,519
Assels Held For Sale 62,451 - 3,006 65,457
Total assefs 0977213 36,513,680 1,539,550 372,263 63,402,775
Liabllitles
Due lo banks 13,367 614 1,374,708 346,379 755 21,123,456
Repurchase agreements . - - . -
Derivative financial insiruments 1,762,503 5944 26 79,763 1,848,236
Due to cuslomers 22931614 11,242,656 1,293,653 160,166 35,628,109
Debt issued and other borrowed funds 270,302 237,382 27,018 - 534,712
Current lax fiabilities 1,314 521 - 1,835
Delemed tax liabililies 361,281 1,720 - - 383,001
Other liabilities 650,284 467,331 34,189 48,827 1,200,631
Provisions 90,755 84,577 19,567 397 195,296
Subordinated Liabilities 1,366,800 539,312 - - 1,906,112
Total liabilities 40,802,467 19,954,161 1,720,832 3N ez 62,801,388
Net (9,825,194) 16,559,528 {181,282} 48,335 6,601,387




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

39. RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)
39.7 Market Risk {continued)

30.7.1. Cumency risk {continued)

BANK 2010

RON Thousand RON EUR usD QOther Total
Assets

Cash and balances with cenlral banks 4,787,436 4,580,269 49,562 42,256 9,468,523
Due from banks 666,484 459,799 187,909 141,543 1,455,735
Financial assels held for lrading 966,944 - - - 966,944
Derialive bnancial instruments 30,671 12,449 146 - 43,266
Financial assels designated al kir value (hrough profil o loss 41,963 - - - 41,963
Loans and advances lo cuslomers 17,489,428 26,444,627 902,285 324,478 45,160,818
Financial imestments - avallable-for-sale 3,404,429 1,401,002 - 158,164 4,963,595
Financial imestmens - held-lo-maturily 4,155,126 843,294 - - 4,999,420
Properly and equipment 751,276 - - 751,276
Intangible assels 220,638 22,638
Current lax assels 189,527 - - - 189,527
Other assels 1,200,922 422,558 40038 20,963 1684,482
Total assets 33,904,844 34,172,999 1,179,941 687,404 69,945,187
Liablllties

Due lo banks 12,306,521 6,566,772 13,951 15,069 18,902,313
Repurchase agresments - 1,885 - - 1,886
Derivaiive financial instruments 1,742,573 45,539 %65 - 1,788,377
Due lo cuslomers 24,517,903 11,222,829 1,441,752 114,662 37,267,146
Deb! issued and other bomowed funds 385,659 252,518 - - 638,177
Deferred lax liabilities 465,990 - - - 465,990
Other liabililies 937,005 506,97 63,935 39,961 1,547,872
Provisions 87,783 117,482 21,206 - 22,471
Subordinated Liabilities 1,351,073 616,244 - - 1967317
Total liabilities 41,794,507 19,230,241 1,531,109 169,692 62,825,540
Net (7,889,663) 14,642,757 (351,168) 817,712 71,119,638
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39, RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.7 Market Risk (continued)

39.7.1. Cumency risk (continued)

Bank 2009
RON Thousand RON EUR UsD Other Total
Assets
Cash and balancss with central banks 3,968,968 5,786,383 31,698 32141 9,819,190
Due from banks 862,609 525527 35,558 29,368 1,453,062
Financial assets held for trading 401,351 - - 401,351
Reverse repurchase agreements 15,687 - 15,687
Derivative financial instrumenls 12,839 383 13,222
Financial assets designated at fair vatue through profil
or loss 165,537 - - - 165,537
Loans and advances to cuslomers 17,816,572 24,767,871 1,043,921 2526 43,630,850
Financial investments - available-for-sale 2,282,402 1,495,830 37,636 - 3,815,868
Financial investments - held-to-maturity 2,156,958 - - - 2,156,958
Property and equipment 998,729 - - - 998,729
Intangible assets 205,539 . - - 285,539
Cument {ax assels 149,168 148,168
Other assels 1,205,809 340,698 48,815 27,083 1,622,385
Assats Held For Sale ™ - - - o
Total assels 30,321,459 32916692 1,197,628 91,008 64,526,877
Liabilities
Due to banks 12,616,066 3,785,718 16,8689 16,418,673
Derivative financial insiruments 1,842,267 5,047 26 . 1,848,240
Due lo customers 22,783,381 11647387 1,263,082 131,052 35824802
Debt issued and ather borowed funds 270,302 237,392 27,018 - s4,12
Deferred tax liabilities 329,504 - - . 328,504
Other liabilities 708,571 332,292 37457 45107 1,123,427
Provisions 90,110 76,769 19,567 . 186,446
Subordinated Liabilities 1,366,800 530312 - - 1062
Total liabilities 40,007,001 16,624,817 4,364,030 176459 58,172,016
Nel {9,685,542) 18201875 (166411) {85,061) 6,354,861




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2010

39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
39.7 Market Risk (continued)
39.71.  Currency risk (continued)

As a member of Ersle Bank Group, BCR was included in 2009 in the program of trading activity centralization set up at Holding level and
according lo the business model BCR- Erste Bank Group, starfing with October 2009, all trading operations were transfemed on a centralized
trading book on helding level. BCR foreign exchange position is closed and is transferred lo holding and the result is refumed lo BCR on a pro-
rated basis, depending on the contribution of the local trader and the volume of transactions.

39.7.2 Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk of adverse change in the fair value of financial instruments caused by movement in market inlerest rates, This type of
risk arises when mismalches exist between assets and liabiliies {including oft-balance-sheel ilems) in respect of their maturiies or of the timing
of inferest rate adjustments.

Beginning with September 2010, the Bank reporis potential changes in the economic value of the bank due to changes in interesi rates,
according to the NBR's Regulation no. 18.

In order to identify inierest rate risk, all financial instruments, including transactions nof recognized in the balance sheet, are grouped info
maturity bands based on their remaining lerm to maturity or ferm fo an interest rate adjustment.

The following table lists the open fixed-income positions held by the Bank in the two currencies that camy significant inlerest rate risk: EUR and
RON, as of:

2010 in RON thousand 1-3years  35years 510 years over 10 years
Fixed-interest gap in EUR positions at 31 December 2010 1,144,483 1,117,577 {122,903) {93,048)
Fixed-inferest gap in RON positions al 31 December 2010 1,467 871 1,890,597 2,212,018 16,635
2009 in RON thousand 1-3 years 3-5 years 510years  over10 years
Fixed-interest gap in EUR positions at 31 December 2009 3,497,313 (51,034) {380,538) (231,240)
Fixed-inlerest gap in RON positions al 31 December 2009 1,147,872 965,721 130,950 (349,503)
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38. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
39.8 Operational risk

Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resuling from inadequate or failed intemal processes, people and systems or from extemal events,
and includes legal risk. This definition excludes strategic and reputational risk. Legal risk is defined as the risk of loss due [o the violation of
applicable laws, rules, regulations, ethical standards, intemal policies, procedures and conlfractual commitments.

The Bank cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but through a conlrol framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks,
the Bank is able to manage the risks. Controls include effective segregation of duies, access, authorization and reconciliation procedures, staff
education and assessment processes, including the use of intemal audil.

The Bank administers operational risks by approaching the main operational risk cafegories (e.g. inlemal fraud, extemal fraud, the requirements
relating to personnel additions and the security of the working environmeni, emoneous practices related to the clienlele, products and activities,
etc,) and ensuring the appropriate framework for the identification, assessment, nofification, monitoring and reporting of this significant risk.

The Bank remains committed lo the objective of increasing shareholder value by developing and growing business that is consistent with risk
appetite, and through buitding more effective risk management capabilities. Responsibility for risk management resides at all levels within the
BCR, from the Executive down through the organization to each business manager and risk specialist. The Bank is seeking an appropriate
balance in its business, and continuing to build the risk management capabilities that will help to defiver growth plans in a controlled
environment.

In order to decrease the bank's exposure to operational risk, the BCR operational risk strategy for 2010 followed these main guidelines:

<4, the implementation of appropriate procedures/ norms/ work inséructions with the purpose of preventing/ mitigating operational risk;

4 the separation of responsibilities related lo micro and SME clienis and the centralization of the afferent back-office and support
activities;

4 continuing the intemal control self assessment process begun in August 2009 by the functional entiies from Central Administration
(Risk and Control Self Assessment) in order io idenlify high and medium risk areas, put forth proper measures for the prevention/
mitigation of operational losses or undertake risks;

4.the development of a local system of operational risk indicalors;

4-finalizing the revisal of user profiles in the core banking system/ critical applications;

4-elaborating means/ criteria for the identification/ prevention of fraud (by the Antifraud Division);

4+ concluding insurance policies against operational risks;

4L ihe conslant revisal of the plans drawn up for the re-running of activity and for unforeseen situations, so that they may comply with the
activity strategies and curent operations unfoided by the bank.

In October 2010, National Bank of Romania and Financial Markets Authority in Austria approved the usage by BCR of the AMA method
{advanced measurement approach for operational risk).
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40. CAPITAL ADEQUACY
40.1 Capital management

The primary objectives of the Bank’s capital management are to ensure that the Bank complies with the capital requiremenls and that the Bank
maintains strong credil ratings and healthy capiial ratios in order to support its business and io maximize shareholders’ value.

The Bank manages its capital structure and makes adjustments lo it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
its activities.

40.2 Capital adequacy

The solvency ratio according to national regulations (Basel Il requirements} as at 31 December 2010 was of 12.79% (31 December 2009:
12.39% based on final financial statements). We mention that the solvency ratio for December 2010 is computed based on the level of
provisional own funds without including the 2010 net profit. If the 2010 net profit had been included in the own funds for December 2010, the
eslimated value of solvency ratio would be 13.04%.

In addition to the above ratio the Bank and the Group also monitor the adequacy of their capilal using ratios established by the Bank for
Intemational Setlements ("BIS") in July 1988, based upon financial statements prepared in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS).

Based upon financial information prepared in accordance with IFRS the Tier 1 and the Tier 1 plus Tier 2 capital adequacy rafios al 31
December 2010 were;

. 14.84% and 19.06%, respectively {31 December 2009; 13.06% and 17.16%, respectively) for the Bank
. 13.22% and 17.10%, respectively (31 December 2009: 12.11% and 15.81%, respectively) for the Group.

Under BIS guidelines, on-balance sheet exposures are afiocated to standardized approach asset classes, a risk weighting being assigned
according to these classes and the loan quality. The following categories of risk weights are applied: 0%, 10%, 20%, 35%, 50%, 75%, 100%,
150%, 200% and other risk weights according o national {aw; for example cash and exposures to central banks denominaled and financed in
local cumency or EUR have a zero risk weighting which means that no capital is required to support the holding of these assets. Premises and
equipment caries a 100% risk weighting, meaning that it must be supported by capital equal lo 8% of the camying amount. Other asset
categories have intermediate weightings.

Off-balance-sheet credit relaled commitments, letiers of guarantee and derivatives are taken info account by applying different categories of
credit conversion faclors, designed (o convert these ifems into balance sheet equivalenis. The resulting credit equivalent amounls are then
weighted for credit risk using the same percentages as for balance sheet assets.

The total credit risk capital requirement is calculated as 8% of the risk weighted assets,

Also, in order (o calculate the capital adequacy ratio, the Bank computes a capital requirement for market and operational risks.
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40.  CAPITAL ADEQUACY (continued)
40.2 Capital adequacy (continued)

Tier 1 capital consisls of shareholders’ eligible equity less deductions (intangibles, participation in insurance companies and other). Tier 2
includes the Bank and the Group's subordinated liabilities.

Group Bank

RON Thousand 2010 2009 2010 2009

Tier 1 capital 6,670,080 6,202,943 6,889,901 6,060,224
Tier 1+ Tier 2 capital 8,628,162 8,099,810 8,848,119 7,957,237
Risk weighted assets {credit, market and operational risks) 50,450,268 51,238,248 46,416,934 46,384,166
BIS Capital ratios

Tier 1 capital 13.22% 12.91% 14.84% 13.06%
Tier 1+ Tier 2 capital 17.10% 15.81% 19.06% 17.16%
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